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nOtiCe OF Virtual annual General MeetinGs 
anD PrOPOseD transFer OF enGaGeMents

We are delighted to present to you, the members of Sligo Credit union limited
and Boyle Credit union limited, the annual reports for both Credit unions and
information in relation to the proposed transfer of engagements from Boyle
Credit union limited to Sligo Credit union limited. You will find further details
and information in relation to the proposed transfer of engagements in the third
section of this booklet (pages 92 to 98). to summarise, this proposal, if approved
by members, it will bring the two Credit unions together to form a Credit union
with over 33,000 members and in excess of €119 million in assets. the transfer
of engagements is subject to the approval of the Central Bank. the decision to
come together was made so that we will be stronger as one and we can provide
an enhanced range of services for all of our members. the combined Credit
union will also be better positioned to meet the ever-increasing regulatory
requirements. the Boards of Directors of both Credit unions are confident that
the enlarged Credit union will strengthen our position as the most trusted,
respected and preferred financial institution for all of our members.

shona Heffernan, Chair, Sligo Credit Union Limited
terry rooney, Chair, Boyle Credit Union Limited

notice is hereby given that the 2024 Virtual Annual General Meeting of
the members of sliGo CrediT Union liMiTed will take place via Zoom
Webinar on 16th december 2024 @ 8.00pm.

notice is hereby given that the 2024 Virtual Annual General Meeting of
the members of boyle CrediT Union liMiTed will take place via Zoom
Webinar on 16th december 2024 @ 6.30pm.
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boyle Credit Union Annual report 47
Proposed Transfer of engagements section 130 notice 92
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DireCtOrs
Shona Heffernan (Chairperson)

Frank Mahon (Vice Chairperson)

Hugh Sheridan (Secretary)

Seamus Kilgannon

noelle Cawley

Conor Conway

Charlotte Mcloughlin

Michael Barrett (appointed - 7/12/23)

robert Kelly

Síle uí ghallachoir (resigned - 7/12/23)

BOarD OVersiGHt COMMittee
Catherine o’reilly (Chairperson) (appointed - 8/1/24)

Bernadette Crilly (Secretary)

eamon Mullen (appointed - 16/5/24)

Marion Hargadon (resigned - 21/12/23)
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Virtual aGM to be held on 
16th December 2024 @ 8.00pm

notice is hereby given that the 2024 Virtual annual general Meeting 
of the members of Sligo Credit union limited will take place 

via Zoom Webinar on 
16th December 2024 @ 8.00pm

Members wishing to attend the Virtual agM must register to attend
the virtual agM. Visit www.sligocu.ie/aGM or email

agm2024@sligocu.ie. the following details will be required:

name
Member number
Member address

Member Date of Birth
Member email address

the request for attendance must be received by 12.00pm 
on 16th December 2024
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the following information is pertinent to this notice.

• Sligo Credit union will be using Zoom Webinar as the electronic platform for the meeting.

• Members must register to attend the virtual agM. only registered members will have access
to the meeting. registration closes at 12.00pm on Monday, December 16th, 2024. 
to register, please visit www.sligocu.ie/aGM or email agm2024@sligocu.ie. registration 
requests must be submitted by the deadline. after registration, members must provide their
details on the Zoom Webinar landing page. invitations to access the meeting will be sent 
by 4.00pM on Monday, December 16th, 2024.

• the information required to request an invitation is your member number, name, address,
email, and date of birth.

• the Credit union will be verifying members details prior to issuing invitations. 
please note you may need to take a phone call from our office (071 9317500) in order 
to verify your membership.

• in verifying your details, if the information on your account does not match the 
information provided on the registration email, we suggest as a precaution to have a valid
proof of iD which is an in-date passport/driver's licence and/or proof of address. these must
be dated in the last 6 months. We will require you to provide these documents if necessary.

• our office will close at 2.00pm on Monday 16th December.

• in order to register for the Virtual agM, each member will require a personal email. 
please note that a group or general mailbox will not be accepted (e.g., info@club.ie, 
team1@xyzltd.ie) 

• all non-presenting participants will have their microphones muted and have their 
cameras switched off to allow the smooth running of the meeting. 

• if a member wishes to submit a question this can be typed to the host by clicking on 
the ‘chat’ button on the bottom of the screen. 

• there will be resolutions that require a vote as well as elections for the position of 
auditor, Board oversight Committee and Board of Directors.

• Voting will be conducted by way of the online poll facility and Members will be asked to 
vote Yes/no electronically for the resolution or for each candidate when instructed by the
Chairperson.

• Votes will be tallied electronically, verified and recorded at the meeting.

• this virtual agM meeting will be recorded and members who register for the meeting will
be agreeing to the recording of the meeting and their participation in it, by registering.
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aGenDa

the agenda for the Virtual annual General Meeting is as follows:

1. the acceptance of the board of directors of the authorised representatives of

members that are not natural persons

2 ascertainment that a quorum is present

3. adoption of Standing orders

4. reading and approval (or correction) of minutes of agM 2023

5. report of the Board of Directors

6. report of the nominations Committee

7. report of Board oversight Committee

8. Consideration of the accounts

9. report of the auditor

10. appointment of tellers

11. election of auditor

12. election to fill vacancies on the Board oversight committee

13. election to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors

14. Consideration of special resolution
The members of Sligo Credit Union Limited resolve that the Credit Union 
accepts the Transfer of Engagements of Boyle Credit Union Limited in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Credit Union Act 1997 
(as amended). 

15. Proposed rule amendment - name Change
That the members of Sligo Credit Union Limited hereby resolve to change the
name of Sligo Credit Union Limited to Northwest Credit Union Limited, subject
to the approval of the Registry of Credit Unions, in accordance with the 
relevant provisions of the Credit Union Act 1997 (as amended).

16. any other business

17. announcement of election results

18. adjournment or close of meeting
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CHairPersOn’s report 2024

in proposing the dividend, the Board are
mindful of our responsibility to have sufficient
reserves to maintain strength in our balance
sheet whilst also seeking to reward members
who have saved with us over the past number
of years.

Savings growth continues at pace with growth
of 9.06% this year. it is not possible for our
reserves to maintain growth at the same level
hence the re-introduction of the monthly
share cap of €5,000 in august 2024.  the
overall share cap remains at €35,000 and the
Board continues to assess the appropriateness
of the savings cap levels.

We welcomed the increase in investment
interest rates throughout 2024, this has
provided growth of 70% in investment income,
bringing us back in line with income earned
pre-2018. as the interest rate environment is
continuously evolving and changing, the
Board will continue to monitor rates to ensure
we make prudent investment decisions on
behalf of our members.

in this year, our loans to members grew by
over 8.16% with over €23 million lent to our
community. our green loan offerings were
refined during the year to make it more

accessible to members and now represent
3.51% of the current loan book (2.28% in
2023).

Sligo Credit union has grown exponentially
since our founding in 1965. this year our
Credit union surpassed €100 million in assets.
this places us in the category of largest Credit
unions nationally and speaks to our ambition
to serve our region within the Credit union
ethos.

over the past year the credit union and all
financial institutions are seeing an increase in
attempted Fraud.  this is because of how we
are all transacting online and using the debit
card.

We ask members to be vigilant in relation to
any unsolicited communications or attempts
to convince you that a call is from persons
claiming to act on our behalf.  Do not disclose
any information in response to an unsolicited
communication when asked for personal data
such as passwords, usernames, pin numbers
or banking information and do not click on
any links or open any attachments from these
communications. guidance is available on
www.ncsc.gov.ie/pdfs/nCSC_Quick_guide_ph
ishing.pdf  and on our media platforms.

Sligo Credit union has had an excellent year resulting in a surplus
of €674k, this is a 43% increase on last year and leaves us in the
wonderful position, that for the first time since 2020, the directors
are supporting the declaration of a dividend to members for 2024
of 0.25%. 
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Credit unions, including Sligo Credit union,
topped the Customer experience league
table for the 10th consecutive year. our own
member survey satisfaction survey resulted in
our members rating their satisfaction with
Sligo Cu as 96%.

our Community Fund awarded €30,000
(€20,000 in 2023) to 31 incredible community
projects around our Common Bond.

as well as the community fund, the credit
union has supported over 42 organisations
through our sponsorship and donations
program.  this program will be reviewed in
2025 to streamline access to the fund, so keep
an eye on our website for more details on this.

none of our achievements happen without
the immense dedication of the Credit union’s
Volunteers.  i would like to thank the
volunteers who are stepping down from their
current committee roles in the Credit union. i
would particularly like to thank my fellow
Directors, Frank Mahon, Hugh Sheridan and
Charlotte Mcloughlin who are stepping down
from their positions after several years of
service.  Special thanks goes to Marie
Mulligan who has volunteered with the Credit
union since 1994, served as a director up to
2016 and when Marie stepped down from her
Directorship she remained on as volunteer
from 2017 to 2024.  i can assure our members,
that the spirit of committed volunteerism has
been epitomised by the dedication of these
members to our credit union.

on behalf of my fellow Directors, i would also
like to acknowledge the full staff team for
their unwavering dedication to our members.  

new MCC requirements come into place for
Credit unions this year, all staff members are
stepping up to the challenge of the additional
educational requirements to ensure your
Credit union remains compliant and in safe
hands.

Finally, in 2025 your credit union will be 60
years old, and we will be seeking your input
on how best to celebrate this milestone!

ní neart go cur le chéile

shona Heffernan
Chairperson

CHAirPerson’s rePorT contd.
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nOMinatiOns COMMittee report

the committee accepts and reviews written
nominations using a skills gap analysis matrix,
assesses candidates and proposes the most
suitable candidates to fill vacancies as they
arise.  the committee also has a role to play in
succession planning and policy updates
throughout the year.

like any other year we had started the year
with a vacancy, this time on our Board
oversight Committee. Marion Hargadon then
resigned from her position in late December,
leaving us with two vacancies. We again
sought out some potential candidates and
were delighted that Catherine o’reilly and
eamonn Mullen both agreed to join our Board
oversight committee who bring a wealth of
experience and knowledge to their roles. 

given that we were operating with 9 directors,
we sought to create a succession plan with a
view to building a pool of volunteers that
could fill any volunteer role as they arise. With
the succession plan we have tried to identify
when vacancies may arise for reasons such as
natural resignation or compulsory retirement
with a view to ensuring we have candidates
ready to fill these roles. How we determined
suitability for directorship was fundamentally
reformed by the introduction of the Minimum
Competency Code (MCC) for volunteers which
mandated volunteers to be competent in

certain roles and therefore must have a
requisite apa or QFa qualification.  this MCC
requirement greatly limits our pool of
potential volunteers to those who have a
suitable qualification or those who be willing
to complete QFa qualifications. 

each year the committee are supported by
Carmel Mullaney, Deputy Ceo and Head of
regulation. Carmel plays a pivotal role in
assisting the committee and we would like to
express our sincere thanks to Carmel for her
steadfast help and assistance during 2024.

With ambitious and exciting plans for the
development of services over the next two
years, we would encourage any member who
wishes to play their part in the future of their
credit union to contact any member of the
committee.

Conor Conway
Chair

the role of the nominations Committee is to identify candidates
with requisite skills and experience to fill future vacancies as they
arise on our Board of Directors. the nominations committee consists
of 3 members appointed by the Board after agM each year.
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BOarD OVersiGHt COMMittee report

it has been quite a period of change for the
BoC which has been assisted greatly by
excellent training and an excellent
management team, and Board. 

the BoC attended all Board of Directors
Meetings held during 2024 to ensure that they
were operating in accordance with all of their
mandated requirements, and we are delighted
to confirm that we found the Board of
Directors to be in compliance at all times.  the
BoC also completed oversight of the risk
portion of the risk, Compliance and internal
audit Committee which is also compliant, and
we are currently completing oversight of
Compliance. 

While correct functioning of the BoC requires
it to operate independently of the Board of
Directors, the BoC are very fortunate to work
with such an enthusiastic, informed and
grounded Board and we are extremely
impressed with the amount and depth of
materials that are covered at each Board
meeting, where every item is given ample time
for thorough discussion.  it is very evident to
the BoC that every decision made by the
Board is done so with members at the
forefront.

the BoC will determine its workplan for 2025
in the coming weeks and looks forward to
continuing its excellent working relationship
with the Board.  the BoC is delighted to
continue to play its part in ensuring that the
Board continue to operate effectively and in
compliance with the legislation, which in turn
benefits the members and the wider
community. 

Catherine O’reilly
Chair

the Board oversight Committee (BoC) experienced a change in its
membership during 2024 and following one resignation and two
new members, is now at a membership of three.  
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StateMent oF 
DireCtOrs resPOnsiBilities
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30TH sePTeMber 2024

the directors are responsible for preparing the
annual report, directors’ report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations. 

the Credit union act 1997 as amended requires
the directors to prepare the Credit union
financial statements for each financial year.
under that law they have elected to prepare the
Credit union financial statements in accordance
with accounting Standards and applicable law
(irish and uK generally accepted accounting
practice), including FrS102 the Financial
reporting Standard applicable in the uK and
republic of ireland. the Credit union financial
statements are required by law to give a true and
fair view of the state of the affairs of the Credit
union as at the end of the financial year and of
the income and expenditure of the Credit union
for the financial year.

in preparing these financial statements, the
directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and apply 
them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable irish accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Credit union will continue in
business.

• in addition to the financial statements, the 
Credit union act 1997 (regulatory 
requirements) regulations require the 
directors to prepare and include, for each 

financial year, additional disclosures and 
statements, each containing prescribed 
information relating to the business of the 
Credit union.

the directors confirm that they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the
financial statements. 

Directors’ responsibilities for accounting
records and internal Controls
the directors are responsible for ensuring that
the Credit union:
• keeps proper accounting records that disclose

with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Credit union, in 
accordance with the act; and

• takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, 
document and review such systems and 
controls as are appropriate to its business, in 
accordance with the legislation and guidance
from the Central Bank of ireland under the 
Credit union acts and Statutory instruments.

the directors have general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reasonably open to them
to safeguard the assets of the Credit union and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

the directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the Credit
union’s website. legislation in ireland governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

shona Heffernan, Chairperson 
Hugh sheridan, Secretary
12th november 2024
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inDePenDent auDitOr’s rePOrt to
tHe MeMBerS oF Sligo CreDit union liMiteD

Opinion
We have audited the Financial Statements of
Sligo Credit union limited for the year ended
30th September 2024 which comprise the
income and expenditure account, the
Statement of Changes in retained earnings, the
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and
notes to the financial statements, including the
summary of significant accounting policies set
out in note 2. the financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is
irish law and FrS 102 The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland.

in our opinion the Financial Statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Credit union's affairs as at 30th September 
2024 and of its income and expenditure and 
cashflows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with FrS 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Credit union act,
1997, as amended.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
international Standards on auditing (ireland)
(iSas (ireland)) and applicable law. our
responsibilities under those standards are
further described below in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Credit union in accordance
with ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of financial statements in ireland,
including the ethical Standard for auditors
(ireland) issued by the irish auditing and

accounting Supervisory authority (iaaSa), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters in relation to which iSas
(ireland) require us to report to you where: 
• the directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate: or 

• the directors have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the Credit union’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least twelve months from the
date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

Other information 
the directors are responsible for the other
information. the other information comprises
the information included in the financial
statements other than the income and
expenditure account, the Statement of Changes
in retained earnings, the Balance Sheet, the
Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. 

in connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider
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whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. if we
identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. if, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Credit union act, 1997, as amended
Based solely on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit, we report that:
• We have obtained all the information and 

explanations which we consider necessary for
the purposes of our audit.

• in our opinion proper accounting records have
been kept by the Credit union, and

• the financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records.

respective responsibilities of directors and
auditor
Responsibilities of directors for the financial
statements
as explained more fully in the Directors'
responsibilities Statement set out on page 13,
the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the
Credit union’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the
Credit union or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with iSas
(ireland) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

a further description of our responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is located
on iaaSa's website at: www.iaasa.ie, under
"Description of auditor's responsibilities for
audit". this description forms part of the
auditor's report.

indePendenT AUdiTors rePorT contd.
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the purpose of our audit work and to whom we
owe our responsibilities
this report is made solely to the Credit union's
members, as a body, in accordance with Section
120 of the Credit union act, 1997, as amended.
our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Credit union's members
those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditors' report and for no other purpose.
to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Credit union and the Credit
union's members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

______________________
Gilroy Gannon
Chartered accountants and statutory audit Firm
25 stephen street 
sligo 
Date: 12th november 2024

indePendenT AUdiTors rePorT contd.
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2024 2023
reclassified

inCoMe note € €

interest on Members' loans 3,694,945 3,408,431 
other interest income and Similar income 5 831,804 488,917 
net interest income 4,526,749 3,897,348 

other income 6 135,381 114,053 
Total income 4,662,130  4,011,401 

exPendiTUre € €

Salaries and Staff pensions 7 1,513,858 1,521,034 
other Management expenses 8 1,939,320 1,693,646 
Depreciation 13 145,396 149,379 
impairment of premises at Wine Street 13 285,492 - 
loss on encashment of investment - 64,400 
Bad and Doubtful Debts recognised for the Year 9 104,061 111,137 

Total expenditure 3,988,127 3,539,596 

surplus for the year 674,003 471,805 

on Behalf of the Credit union:

orla lee Catherine o’reilly shona Heffernan
CEO Board Oversight Committee Board of Directors

Date: 12th november 2024

inCOMe anD exPenDiture aCCOunt
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30TH sePTeMber 2024



2024 2023 
€ €

as at 1 october 2023 2,482,923 2,202,849 
total Comprehensive income for the year 674,003 471,805 
Dividends and interest rebates paid (note 4) - - 
net transfers to other reserves (See Below) (946,456) (191,731)
As at 30 september 2024 2,210,470 2,482,923 

MeMber resoUrCes
surplus year dividend/

ended interest rebate
Movement in reserves At 1/10/2023 30/9/2024 Paid Transfers At 30/9/2024

retaineD earningS
realised 2,382,923 674,003 - (1,042,956) 2,013,970 
unrealised - - - - - 
Dividend & interest rebate 
reserve (note 4) 100,000 - - 96,500 196,500 

Total retained earnings 2,482,923 674,003 - (946,456) 2,210,470 

regulatory reserve 10,106,047 - - 837,814 10,943,861 
operational risk reserve 2,134,656 - - 105,000 2,239,656 
operational risk reserve 
- Current accounts 213,081 - - 3,642 216,723 

Total 14,936,707 674,003 - - 15,610,710 

on Behalf of the Credit union:

orla lee Catherine o’reilly shona Heffernan
CEO Board Oversight Committee Board of Directors

Date: 12th november 2024
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stateMent OF CHanGes in retaineD earninGs
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30TH sePTeMber 2024
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on Behalf of the Credit union:

orla lee Catherine o’reilly shona Heffernan
CEO Board Oversight Committee Board of Directors

Date: 12th november 2024

2024 2023 
AsseTs note € €

Cash and Balances at Bank 7,663,542 6,858,624 
Deposits and investments 10 44,722,091 41,010,912 
equity investment - Cu Mortgage Services DaC 20,000 - 
loans to Members 11 47,994,504 44,370,218 
less: provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 12 (2,943,277) (2,847,071)
tangible Fixed assets 13 3,563,130 3,926,674 
prepayments and accrued income 14 312,057 262,357 
ToTAl AsseTs 101,332,047 93,581,714 

MeMbers liAbiliTies € €

Members Shares 16 80,658,154 74,311,803 
Budget accounts (6,015) 52,576 
Working accounts 1,726,709 1,529,007 
Current accounts 17 3,086,396 2,471,557 

85,465,244 78,364,943 
oTHer liAbiliTies € €

accruals, other Creditors and Deferred income 18 256,093 280,064 
ToTAl liAbiliTies 85,721,337 78,645,007 
neT AsseTs 15,610,710 14,936,707 

MeMbers resoUrCes € €

regulatory reserve 10,943,861 10,106,047 
operational risk reserve 2,239,656 2,134,656 
operational risk reserve - Current accounts 216,723 213,081 
retained earnings:

realised reserves 2,013,970 2,382,923 
unrealised reserves - - 
Dividend & interest rebate reserve 196,500 100,000 

ToTAl MeMbers resoUrCes 15,610,710 14,936,707 

BalanCe sHeet
As AT 30TH sePTeMber 2024



20

Sligo CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024

CasH FlOW stateMent
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30TH sePTeMber 2024

2024 2023 
note € €

Cash Flows from operating Activities
Surplus 674,003 471,805 

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation/impairment 430,888 149,379 
increase in provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 399,926 408,505

1,504,817 1,029,689
Movements in

accrued interest (4,543) (52,916)
other receivables (45,157) (2,978) 
other payables (23,971) 46,822 

(73,671) (9,072) 

Cash Flows from Changes in operating Assets 
and liabilities
Members Savings in 95,579,742 81,670,037 
Members Savings Withdrawals (88,479,441) (79,013,530)
payment of Dividends/interest rebates 4 - - 
new loans to Members 11 (23,610,368) (23,811,696)
repayment of loans by Members 11 19,682,362 18,512,819 

3,172,295 (2,642,370)

net Cash Flows from operating Activities 4,603,441 (1,621,753)

Cash Flows from investing Activities
purchase of property plant & equipment (67,344) (54,910)
Cu Mortgages Services DaC (20,000) - 
net Cash Flow from Managing Deposits and investments (833,593) 3,941,948 

net Cash Flows from investing Activities (920,937) 3,887,038 

net increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash equivalents 3,682,504 2,265,285
Cash and Cash equivalents at Beginning of Financial Year 17,950,643 15,685,358 

Cash & Cash equivalents at end of Financial year 20 21,633,147 17,950,643
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1.  leGal anD reGulatOry FraMeWOrK
Sligo Credit union limited is established under
the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). the
Credit union is registered with the registrar of
Credit unions (no. 220Cu) and is regulated by the
Central Bank of ireland. the principal place of
business is Wine Street, Sligo with branch offices
in Collooney, Co. Sligo and Drumkeerin, Co.
leitrim.

2.  aCCOuntinG POliCies
Basis of preparation
these financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with FrS 102, the Financial
reporting Standard applicable in the uK and
republic of ireland. the financial statements are
prepared on the historical cost basis, modified to
include certain items at fair value.

Currency
the financial statements are prepared in euro,
which is the functional currency of the Credit
union. Monetary amounts in these financial
statements are rounded to the nearest euro.

Going concern
the financial statements are prepared on the
going concern basis. the Directors of Sligo Credit
union limited believe this is appropriate as the
Credit union: 

- is generating annual surpluses; 
- Maintains an appropriate level of liquidity; and 
- Has reserves that are currently above the
minimum legal and regulatory requirements.

income
Interest on Members’ Loans
interest on loans to members is recognised using
the effective interest method and is calculated
and accrued on a daily basis.

Investment Income
the Credit union has investments that are valued
at amortised cost and uses the effective interest
method to recognise investment income in respect
of these investments.

it also accounts for some investments in protected
equity funds at fair value through income and
expenditure. these investments are valued at fair
value (market value) at the year-end date and any
gains either realised or unrealised at the balance
sheet date are taken to the income and
expenditure account. 

Other income 
other income such as current account income and
commission receivable on foreign exchange
services arises in connection with specific
transactions. income relating to individual
transactions is recognised when the transaction is
completed.

tangible fixed assets and depreciation
tangible fixed assets comprise items of freehold
premises, fixtures and fittings and computers,
which are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
each item of property and equipment, less its
estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life. the categories of
property, plant and equipment are depreciated as
follows:

Freehold premises 2% per annum 
Fixtures and fittings             10% per annum 
Computers 33.33% per annum

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMent
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30TH sePTeMber 2024
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at each year end, the Credit union reviews the
carrying value of its tangible fixed assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. if
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Credit union estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. in
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

if the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income and expenditure
account. 

recognised impairment losses are reversed if,
and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss
have ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. a reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income and
expenditure account.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash
comprises cash in hand and amounts with banks
repayable on demand. Cash equivalents comprise
highly liquid, unrestricted investments that are
readily convertible into cash with an insignificant
risk of changes in value with original maturities of
less than three months. the cash flow statement
has been prepared using the indirect method.

Financial instruments
the Credit union has elected to apply the
provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial
instruments’ and Section 12 ‘other Financial
instruments issues’ of FrS 102 to all of its financial
instruments. Financial instruments are recognised
when the Credit union becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and liabilities are offset, with the net
amounts presented in the financial statements,
when, and only when, there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. Financial assets and
liabilities are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Basic financial assets
Basic financial assets are either:
i) initially measured at the transaction price, 

including transaction costs, and are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method; or 

ii) initially and subsequently at each year-end date
measured at fair value (market value) with all 
gains and losses being taken to the income and
expenditure account.

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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Basic financial assets include the following:

Loans to members
loans to members are financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments. loans are recognised
when cash is advanced to members and
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Investments held at amortised cost 
investments held at amortised cost are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment. this means that the
investment is measured at the amount paid for
the investment, minus any repayments of the
principal; plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method
of any difference between the amount at initial
recognition and the maturity amount; minus, in
the case of a financial asset, any reduction for
impairment or un-collectability. this effectively
spreads out the return on such investments over
time, but does take account immediately of any
impairment in the value of the investment.

Investments held at fair value
investments in protected equity funds are
measured at fair value (market value) with any
gains either realised or unrealised at the balance
sheet date being taken to the income and
expenditure account. the Credit union’s initial
investment in these funds is fully protected. 

Central Bank deposits
Credit unions are obliged to maintain certain
minimum deposits with the Central Bank but may
also hold an excess over the regulatory minimum.
the regulatory minimum deposits are technically
assets of the Credit union but to which the Credit
union has restricted access. the regulatory
minimum portion will not ordinarily be returned

to the Credit union while it is a going concern and
is separately identified in note 10.

Funds held with the Central Bank in excess of the
regulatory minimum requirements are fully
available to the Credit union and are therefore
treated as cash equivalents and are separately
identified in note 10. 

the amounts held on deposit with the Central
Bank are not subject to impairment reviews.

Other receivables
other receivables such as prepayments are
initially measured at transaction price including
transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair value
or Central Bank deposits, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each reporting end
date. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future
cashflows have been affected. 

if an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the
difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of the expected cash flows taking
account of pledged shares and other security as
appropriate. 

in the case of impairment of loans to members, the
loans are assessed collectively in groups that
share similar credit risk characteristics except for
individually significant loans which are assessed
on a loan by loan basis for impairment. any
impairment losses are recognised in the income
and expenditure account. 

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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if there is a decrease in the impairment loss
arising from an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the impairment is
reversed. the reversal is such that the current
carrying amount does not exceed what the
carrying amount would have been, had the
impairment not previously been recognised. the
impairment reversal is recognised in the income
and expenditure account.

De-recognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or are settled, or when the Credit union
transfers to another party substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, or if some significant risks and rewards of
ownership are retained but control of the asset
has transferred to another party that is able to
sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third
party. 

in the case of loans to members, loans are
derecognised, when the right to receive cash
flows from the loans has expired, usually when all
amounts outstanding have been repaid by the
member. Sligo Credit union limited does not
transfer loans to third parties.

Basic financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities are initially recognised
at the transaction price, including transaction
costs, unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction, where the debt instrument
is measured at the present value of the future
payments discounted at a market rate of interest.
Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Basic financial liabilities include the following:

Members’ shares
Members’ shareholdings in Sligo Credit union
limited are redeemable and therefore are
classified as financial liabilities. they are initially
recognised at the amount of cash deposited and
subsequently measured at the nominal amount.

Other payables
other payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less. if not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities. other
payables are recognised initially at transaction
price and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

De-recognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligations of the Credit union specified in the
contract are discharged, cancelled or expire.

employee benefits
Defined contribution plans: the amounts charged
as expenditure for the defined contribution plan
are the contributions payable by the Credit union
for the relevant period. 

other employee benefits: other short and long
term employee benefits, including holiday pay, are
recognised as an expense over the period they are
earned.

Pension Costs
Defined Contribution Scheme
Contributions to the (Defined contribution)
pensions scheme with new ireland are charged to
the income and expenditure account in the period
to which they relate.

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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Defined Benefit Scheme
Sligo Credit union limited participates in an
industry-wide pension scheme for employees
(the irish league of Credit unions republic of
ireland pension Scheme).  this is a funded scheme
of the defined benefit type, with assets invested
in separate trustee administered funds.
Judgement is required to assess whether Sligo
Credit union limited has sufficient information to
enable it to account for the plan as a defined
benefit plan.  an assessment has been performed
of the information currently available and Sligo
Credit union limited has determined that there
is currently insufficient information available to
provide an appropriate allocation of pension
assets and liabilities.  Consequently, it accounts
for the Scheme as a defined contribution plan.

Distributions
Sligo Credit union limited recognises a liability
in respect of dividends and interest rebates
payable to members only to the extent that they
have been declared to and approved by the
members at the annual general Meeting of the
Credit union. 

reserves
Retained Earnings
retained earnings are the accumulated surpluses
to date that have not been declared as dividends
returnable to members. the retained earnings are
subdivided into realised and unrealised in
accordance with the Central Bank guidance note
for Credit unions on Matters relating to
accounting for investments and Distribution
policy. investment income that has been
recognised but will not be received within 12
months of the balance sheet date is classified
as ‘unrealised’ and is not distributable as a
dividend in accordance with the Central Bank
direction. all other income is classified as

‘realised’. a reclassification between unrealised
and realised is made as investments come to
within 12 months of maturity date.

Dividend & Interest Rebate Reserve
Sligo Credit union limited maintains a separate
dividend and interest rebate reserve which is a
component of retained earnings. it maintains this
reserve at the level of dividend and interest rebate
proposed by the Directors at the end of each
financial year and to be approved by the members
of the Credit union at the annual general
Meeting. 

Regulatory Reserve
the Credit union act 1997 (regulatory
requirements) regulations require Credit unions
to establish and maintain a minimum regulatory
reserve of at least 10 per cent of the assets of the
Credit union. this reserve is to be: perpetual in
nature, freely available to absorb losses and
comprise realised financial reserves that are
unrestricted and non-distributable. the Credit
union held an amount of €10,943,861 (2023:
€10,106,047) as regulatory reserves at 30th
September 2024 this represented 10.8% (2023:
10.8%) of the assets of the Credit union.

Operational Risk Reserve
Section 45(5)(a) of the 1997 act requires each
Credit union to maintain an additional reserve
that it has assessed is required for operational risk
having regard to the nature, scale and complexity
of the Credit union. Credit unions are required to
maintain a minimum operational risk reserve
having due regard for the sophistication of the
business model. the definition of operational risk
is the risk of losses stemming from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. the directors have
considered the requirements of the act and have

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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considered an approach to calculation of the
operational risk reserve based on indicative
guidance issued by the Central Bank and using
the higher of 15% of the average gross income
over the previous three years (based on the Basel
indicator approach); or 2% of assets; or 30% of
expenditure. the Credit union held an amount of
€2,456,379 (2023: €2,347,737) as an operational
risk reserve at 30th September 2024. this
represented 2.42 per cent (2023: 2.51 per cent) of
the assets of the Credit union.

3.  use OF estiMates anD JuDGeMents
the preparation of financial statements requires
the use of certain accounting estimates. it also
requires the Directors to exercise judgement in
applying Sligo Credit union limited’s accounting
policies. the areas requiring a higher degree of
judgement, or complexity, and areas where
assumptions or estimates are most significant to
the financial statements are disclosed below:

Bad debts/Impairment losses on loans to
members
the Credit union’s accounting policy for
impairment of financial assets is set out in note 2.
the estimation of loan losses is inherently
uncertain and depends upon many factors,
including loan loss trends, credit risk
characteristics in loan classes, local and
international economic climates, conditions in
various sectors of the economy to which the
Credit union is exposed, and, other external
factors such as legal and regulatory
requirements.

Credit risk is identified, assessed and measured
through the use of analysis and the employment
of statistical techniques to quantify the risk and
project the likely losses in a loan portfolio. this
analysis influences the management of individual

loans. Certain scenarios (individual member
circumstances, arrears, etc.) trigger an impairment
assessment and if relevant the raising of specific
provisions on individual loans where there is
doubt about their recoverability. loan loss
provisioning is monitored by the Credit union, and
the Credit union assesses and approves its
provisions and provision adequacy on a quarterly
basis. 

Key assumptions underpinning the Credit union’s
estimates of collective provisions for loans with
similar credit risk characteristics and incurred But
not reported provisions (‘iBnr’) are based on the
historical experiences of the Credit union allied to
the Credit union’s judgement of relevant
conditions in the wider economic, technological,
market or legal environment in which the Credit
union operates. if a loan is deemed to be
impaired, a specific provision is made against that
loan, taking account of pledged shares and other
security as appropriate. after a period of time,
when it is concluded that there is no real prospect
of recovery of loans/part of loans which have been
subjected to a specific provision, the Credit union
writes off that amount of the loan deemed
irrecoverable against the specific provision held
against the loan.

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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4.  DiViDenDs anD interest reBates
the level of dividend and interest rebate is formally proposed by the Directors after
the year end and is confirmed at the following agM. as a result it does not represent
a liability at the balance sheet date. the directors are proposing a dividend of 0.25%
to members in respect of the year ended 30th September 2024. 

2024 2023
diVidends/inTeresT rebATes PAid dUrinG THe yeAr € €

Dividend paid During the Year - -
Dividend rate 0% 0%

interest rebate paid During the Year - -
interest rebate rate 0% 0%

Total dividends/interest Paid during the year - -

diVidend/inTeresT rebATes ProPosed bUT noT reCoGnised

Dividend proposed 196,500 -
Dividend rate 0.25% 0%

interest rebate proposed - -
interest rebate rate 0% 0%

Total dividends/interest rebates Proposed 
but not recognised 196,500 -

2024 2023

€ €

Deposit interest 552,832 393,064
investment income 278,972 95,853

831,804 488,917
Included within the above is deposit interest due 
at the balance sheet date as follows: 2024 2023

Due within one year (note 14) 92,553 86,473
Due outside of one year - -

92,553 86,473

5. OtHer interest inCOMe anD siMilar inCOMe

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.



6. OtHer inCOMe
2024 2023 

€ €

Current account income 112,838 100,719
Foreign exchange income 14,367 12,189
entrance Fees 1,161 1,093
Budget Bad Debt recovered 810 -
Sundry income 6,205 52

135,381 114,053

2024 2023

€ €

Salary 268,334 332,007
employers prSi Contributions 29,660 33,536
payments to pension Scheme 35,299 33,193

333,293 398,736
(b) other staff salaries

2024 2023
€ €

Salary 1,027,584 981,329
employers prSi Contributions 112,967 108,467
payments to pension Scheme 40,014 32,502

1,180,565 1,122,298
Total salaries 1,513,858 1,521,034

7. salaries anD staFF PensiOns
(a) Key Management remuneration
the Directors of Sligo Credit union limited are all unpaid volunteers. the key
management team for Sligo Credit union limited would include the Credit union
Ceo and two (2023: three) other senior staff.
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8. OtHer ManaGeMent exPenses

2024 2023

€ €

rates 22,206 18,195 
light & Heat 46,519 39,980 
repairs and renewals 27,749 27,996 
Cleaning 16,685 14,875 
Security 7,825 8,104 
Stationery and printing 34,621 41,790 
telephone and postage 54,721 46,238 
Donations and Sponsorship 16,034 16,723 
Debt Collection Fees 37,644 40,555 
promotion and advertising 65,207 79,766 
training Costs 19,774 21,639 
Chapter expenses -00 1,340 
agM expenses 38,391 25,992 
SgM expenses -00 11,840 
travel and Subsistence 11,213 7,530 
Bank Charges 97,596 65,455 
audit Fee 30,135 28,290 
Monitoring and Supervisory Fees -00 29 
Convention expenses 530 1,363 
general insurance 49,403 46,659 
Share and loan insurance 324,514 321,162 
professional Fees 222,680 208,034 
resolution levy 11,083 22,316 
Deposit guarantee Scheme Fund Charge 128,679 87,223 
Computer Maintenance & licence Fees 335,814 218,154 
educational & Sports Bursaries 10,000 25,000 
Miscellaneous expenses 9,196 9,894 
Staff related expenses 12,988 22,365 
Community Fund 30,000 20,000 
affiliation Fees 17,704 16,294 
Savings protection Scheme Contribution 7,136 6,100 
transfer of engagment Costs 56,889 -00 
outsourced Compliance Cost 14,391 -00 
Cu Mortgage Services DaC 5,565 -00 
Current account expenditure 176,428 192,745 

1,939,320 1,693,646 

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.



9. BaD anD DOuBtFul DeBts reCOGniseD FOr tHe year

2024 2023
reclassified

€ €

impairment of individual loans (note 12) 303,720 149,433
increase/(Decrease) in impairment provision During the Year 96,206 259,072
impairment of loan interest reclassified as Bad Debt recoveries (71,268) (59,564)
reversal of impairment where Debts recovered (224,597) (237,804)

Total impairment losses/(Gains) recognised 
for the year (note 12) 104,061 111,137

loan interest previously impaired and subsequently recovered has been reclassified as 
Bad Debt recoveries.
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10. DePOsits anD inVestMents

2024 2023
Credit rating Maturity date € €

investments Held at Amortised Cost

irish and eMU state securities
irish 3.4% government Bonds Mar-24 - 1,769,870 
irish 0.9% government Bonds aa3 May-28 1,001,942 1,001,498 
irish 1.35% gov Bond aa3 Mar-31 1,501,956 - 
german 0% t Bill aaa Jan-25 2,952,664 - 
French France 0% aa2 May-25 2,081,436 - 

7,537,998 2,771,368 
bank bonds
Santander uK plC 1.125% Bond a1 Mar-25 503,204 503,410 
rabobank 1.25% Snr Bond aa2 Mar-26 757,545 759,603 
rabobank 1.375% aa2 Feb-27 955,789 - 
Credit agricole Sa 1.375% Bond aa3 May-27 504,281 504,921 
Bnp paribas aa3 Feb-26 968,440 - 
Credit agricole Sa - 4% aa3 Jan-33 1,558,902 - 
Societe generale a1 May-27/Jul-30/Mar-31 5,000,000 5,000,000 
investec Dec-23 - 3,000,000 
Bnp paribas aa3 Mar-31/Jul-31 1,000,000 1,000,000 
BJK4W42 germany 2.855% Snr Mar-24 - 1,986,366 

11,248,161 12,754,300 
deposits
ptSB a1 7,035,932 6,089,019 
Bank of ireland a1 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Deutsche Bank a1 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Bnp paribas - 1,500,000 
BBVa a3 1,500,000 1,500,000 
natwest a1 2,500,000 2,500,000 
Barclays Bank plC a+ 8,000,000 7,253,000 
HSBC France a1 2,000,000 2,000,000 

25,035,932 24,842,019 

Central bank - regulatory Minimum 716,327 643,225 

investments Held at Fair Value
Central Bank - Cash equivalents 183,673 - 

Total investments and deposits 44,722,091 41,010,912

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.



irish and eMU state securities
these government Bonds are centrally managed by Brewin Dolphin.

bank bonds
these Bank Bonds are centrally managed by either Brewin Dolphin, goodbody or
investec.

deposits
the majority of deposits are centrally managed by Brewin Dolphin with a small portion
placed directly by Sligo Credit union limited with the various financial institutions.
Deposits are due to mature as follows:

2024 2023
€ €

amounts due on demand or within 3 months of the 
balance sheet date (note 20) 13,785,932 11,092,019

amounts due outside of 3 months but within 1 year 
of the balance sheet date 3,000,000 1,500,000

amounts due outside of 1 year but within 5 years of the 
balance sheet date 7,500,000 10,000,000

amounts due outside of 5 years but within 10 years 
of the balance sheet date 750,000 2,250,000

25,035,932 24,842,019

the credit ratings are based on those of the rating agency Moody’s as at the year end
with the exception of Barclays whose rating is from S&p as Moody’s have not rated
Barclays.

the basis of accounting for investments and income from investments is set out in 
note 2.
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11. lOans anD aDVanCes tO MeMBers - FinanCial assets

2024 2023 

€ €

as at 1st october 2023 44,370,218 39,220,774
advanced During the Year 23,610,368 23,811,696
repaid During the Year (19,682,362) (18,512,819)
gross loans and advances to Members 48,298,224 44,519,651
Bad Debts Written off against provision During the Year 
(note 12) (303,720) (149,433)

As at 30th september 2024 47,994,504 44,370,218

the total value of loans due for repayment beyond one year is €46,629,654 
(2023: €42,975,418)

the basis of accounting for loans and advances to members is set out in note 2.

12. lOan arrears anD DOuBtFul DeBts/OtHer iMPairMent lOsses

2024 2023 
BaD DeBts € €

as at 1st october 2023 2,847,071 2,587,999
allowance for principal losses Made During the Year (note 11) (303,720) (149,433)
Bad Debts recovered During the Year 224,597 237,804
increase/(Decrease) in allowances During the Year (note 9) 175,329 170,701

As at 30th september 2024 2,943,277 2,847,071

the current bad and doubtful debt provision in the financial statements is €2,943,277 
(2023: €2,847,071) representing 6.13% (2023: 6.4%) of the total loan book. 

loans rescheduled during the year amounted to €78,722 (2023: €30,829).

the basis of calculating the provision for bad and doubtful debts is set out in note 2.
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Freehold land Fixtures &
& buildings Fittings Computers Total

€ € € €

CosT
at 1st october 2023 3,925,480 478,922 956,576 5,360,978
additions - 4,864 62,480 67,344
Disposals - - - -

At 30th september 2024 3,925,480 483,786 1,019,056 5,428,322

dePreCiATion/iMPAirMenT
at 1st october 2023 192,329 347,384 894,592 1,434,304
Charge for the year 59,446 38,760 47,190 145,396
impairment of premises at Wine Street 285,492 - - 285,492
Disposals - - - -

At 30th september 2024 537,267 386,144 941,782 1,865,192

net Book Value at 30th september 2024 3,388,213 97,642 77,274 3,563,130

net Book Value at 30th september 2023 3,733,151 131,538 61,984 3,926,674

13. tanGiBle FixeD assets

the Credit union completed the re-development of its new premises at Wine Street
and moved its operations to the new premises in early october 2020. the total costs
incurred in the acquisition and re-development of the premises amounted to
€3,811,501. in previous years, with a view to establishing whether the Wine Street
premises had suffered an impairment, the directors relied on a value-in-use
calculation of the premises. However, on 8th March 2024 a professional valuation
prepared by oates Breheny was obtained of €3,325,000 for the property resulting in
an impairment of the property amounting to €285,492. this impairment of the
property has been recognised in the income and expenditure account for the year.

a valuation was carried out on the Credit union’s premises at Main Street, Collooney
in September 2015 prior to the transfer of engagements from Collooney Credit union
limited to Sligo Credit union limited. at this point an impairment loss was recognised
and the property was written down to a carrying value of €75,000 being the market
value of the property as per a professional valuation and this was the carrying value
of the property at the point it was transferred to Sligo Credit union limited. the
directors have received a professional valuation of the property in March 2024 which
confirms the current market value exceeds the carrying value in the financial
statements.  on this basis the directors have determined that the property has not
been further impaired and consequently no alteration to the carrying value of the
property was required as at 30th September 2024.
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a valuation was carried out on the Credit union’s premises at Main Street, Drumkeerin
in october 2018 prior to the transfer of engagements from Drumkeerin Credit union
limited to Sligo Credit union limited. at this point an impairment loss was recognised
and the property was written down to a carrying value of €39,000 being the market
value of the property as per a professional valuation and this was the carrying value
of the property at the point it was transferred to Sligo Credit union limited. the
directors have received a professional valuation of the property in March 2024 which
confirms the current market value exceeds the carrying value in the financial
statements.  on this basis the directors have determined that the property has not
been further impaired and consequently no alteration to the carrying value of the
property was required as at 30th September 2024.

the basis of accounting for tangible Fixed assets is set out in note 2.

14. PrePayMents anD aCCrueD inCOMe

15. CreDit risK DisClOsures

loans
the Credit union’s credit risk arises from its portfolio of loans to members and from
potential losses on investments with other financial institutions that could result from
the failure of treasury counterparties to observe the terms of the contract entered
into. the Credit union has no risk appetite for material credit losses, this is controlled
through observation of legislation and regulations, the appointment of committees,
credit quality rules, underwriting standards and counterparty limits. all loan
applications are assessed with reference to the Credit union’s lending policy. Changes
to policy are approved by the Board and the approval of loan applications is
mandated. appropriate credit limits have been established by the Board for individual
exposures and together with Central Bank guidelines on credit exposures. policies are
continually monitored by the Board, Board oversight Committee and internal audit.

the carrying amount of the loans to members represents Sligo Credit union limited’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. the following table provides information on the
credit quality of loan repayments. Where loans are not impaired/bad it is expected
that the amounts repayable will be received in full.

2024 2023

€ €

prepayments 96,885 51,228
accrued interest on loans outstanding by members 111,003 114,147
accrued Deposit interest (note 4) 92,553 86,473
Current account accrued Fees 11,616 10,509

312,057 262,357
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2024 2024 2023 2023
€ % € %

noT iMPAired/FUlly reCoVerAble
total loans not impaired 37,009,189 77% 33,789,589 76%

iMPAired loAns
not Yet past Due 8,605,744 18% 8,502,910 19%
up to 3 Months past Due 1,568,059 3% 1,218,021 3%
Between 3 and 6 Months past Due 226,283 1% 435,413 1%
Between 6 Months and 1 Year past Due 406,384 1% 235,632 1%
over 1 Year past Due 178,845 0% 188,653 0%

Sub-total: impaired loans 10,985,315 23% 10,580,629 24%

Total Carrying Value 47,994,504 100% 44,370,218 100%

Committed Savings (note 16) 5,523,159 11.5% 5,367,949 12.1%
Bad Debt provisions (note 12) 2,943,277 6.1% 2,847,071 6.4%

inVesTMenTs
Credit risk in respect of treasury counterparties is assessed using a number of methodologies to
include rating agencies and Central Bank regulations. For treasury related counterparties, the
Credit union is limited to a maximum 20% exposure to any one counterparty of investments
made. the credit ratings in respect of amounts held as investments at the year-end date are dis-
closed in note 10.

16. MeMBers sHares
Members’ shares are distinguished between those which are unconditionally repayable
on demand and those which are committed or otherwise pledged to the Credit union by
virtue of loans or guarantees. the Credit union retains rights to exercise liens over shares
where a member has an outstanding liability to the Credit union in accordance with
Section 20 of the Credit union act 1997, as amended.

2024 2023

€ €

on Demand 75,134,995 68,943,854
Committed Savings 5,523,159 5,367,949
Total savings 80,658,154 74,311,803
The basis of accounting for members shares is set out in Note 2.

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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18. OtHer liaBilities
2024 2023

€ €

accruals 241,540 268,245
other Creditors 11,819 11,819
government Stamp Duty 2,734 -

256,093 280,064

17. Current aCCOunts
2024 2023

no. accounts € no. accounts €

Credit Balances 1,784 3,105,082 1,596 2,494,379
Debit Balances 121 (18,686) 114 (22,822)
Total 3,086,396 2,471,557
Permitted overdrafts 158 (112,887) 145 (108,400)

the above balances represent the current account and overdraft balances relating to the
debit card facility provided by the Credit union to its members.

19. MeMBers’ DraW inCOMe anD exPenDiture aCCOunt
2024 2023

€ €

Deferred income brought forward from prior year - 269
inCoMe
Members' Draw entry Fees - 78,400
exPendiTUre
prizes and Costs - (78,669)
surplus and deferred for future draws - -

20. CasH anD CasH equiValents
2024 2023

€ €

Cash Balances at Bank 7,663,542 6,858,624
Central Bank - Cash equivalents 183,673 -
Deposit accounts Maturing < 3 Months (note 10) 13,785,932 11,092,019

21,633,147 17,950,643

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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21. aDDitiOnal FinanCial
instruMents DisClOsures

FinAnCiAl risK MAnAGeMenT
Sligo Credit union limited manages its
members’ shares and loans to members so that
it earns income from the margin between
interest receivable and interest payable. the
main financial risks arising from Sligo Credit
union limited’s activities are credit risk (note
15), liquidity risk and market risk (interest rate
risk). the Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks, which are
summarised below.

liquidity risk: liquidity risk is the risk that the
Credit union will encounter difficulty in
meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by
delivering cash or another financial asset. the
Credit union monitors liquidity requirements
on a daily basis in line with specific policies in
this area, approved by the Board and in line
with Central Bank requirements. the liquidity
risk appetite is supported by qualitative and
quantitative measures that are monitored by
the Board on a monthly basis.

the Credit union’s policy is to maintain
sufficient funds in a liquid form at all times to
ensure that the Credit union can cover all
fluctuations in funding, retain public
confidence in the solvency of the Credit union
and to enable the Credit union to meet its
financial obligations and regulatory ratios.

all of the financial liabilities of the Credit
union are repayable on demand except for
some members’ shares attached to loans. the

Credit union retains, at all times, liquid assets
amounting to a minimum of 30% of
unattached savings.

Market rrisk: Market risk is the risk that the fair
value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market prices comprise three
types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk. of these, only interest rate
risk is significant for the Credit union. the
Credit union is not directly exposed to
currency risk as it deals only with products in
euro, and its products are only interest
orientated so are not exposed to other pricing
risks.

the Credit union is exposed to movements in
interest rates reflecting the mismatch between
the dates on which interest receivable on
assets and interest payable on liabilities are
next reset to market rates or if earlier, the
dates on which the instruments mature. the
Credit union manages this exposure on a
regular basis, within the limits set by the Board,
however as the Credit union only declares its
dividends at the year end based on such
market rates, the board considers its sensitivity
to such rates as marginal.

22. POst BalanCe sHeet eVents
there have been no significant events
affecting the Credit union since the financial
year end.

23. CaPital COMMitMents
the Credit union has no capital commitments
at the balance sheet date (€nil – 2023). 

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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24. COntinGent liaBilities
prior to the transfer of engagements from
Collooney Credit union limited to Sligo
Credit union limited in September 2015, the
value of Freehold premises held by
Collooney Credit union limited was written
down by an amount of €119,000 to a
carrying value of €75,000 being the market
value of the premises as per a professional
valuation. the irish league of Credit unions
(ilCu) have advanced €119,000 to fund this
reduction in value on the provision that
where the premises is disposed of at any
point in the future, and the amount realised
on any such disposal exceeds €75,000 then
the excess must be repaid to ilCu (or to the
ilCu Savings protection Company limited if
requested by ilCu), subject to a maximum
amount repayable of €119,000.

prior to the transfer of engagements from
Drumkeerin Credit union limited to Sligo
Credit union limited in october 2018, the
value of Freehold premises held by
Drumkeerin Credit union limited was
written down by an amount of €49,000 to a
carrying value of €39,000 being the market
value of the premises as per a professional
valuation. the irish league of Credit unions
(ilCu) have advanced €49,000 to fund this
reduction in value on the provision that
where the premises is disposed of at any
point in the future, and the amount realised
on any such disposal exceeds €39,000 then
the excess must be repaid to ilCu (or to the
ilCu Savings protection Company limited if
requested by ilCu), subject to a maximum
amount repayable of €49,000.

additionally, prior to the transfer of
engagements from Drumkeerin Credit union
limited to Sligo Credit union limited in
october 2018 the irish league of Credit
unions (ilCu) have advanced €31,605 to
fund sums in respect of bad debts which
Drumkeerin Credit union limited had not
written off as at the date of the transfer of
engagements, but that have been written off
after the transfer of engagements as their
recoverability is assessed as unlikely. if
amounts are subsequently recovered in
respect of the loans written off then any
such amounts must be repaid to ilCu (or to
the ilCu Savings protection Company
limited if requested by ilCu).

there are no other material contingencies
as at 30 September 2024 (€nil - 2023).

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.



40

Sligo CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024

loans loan Attached Unattached
Advanced balances share share Provisions

during outstanding balances balances Held
year 30/09/2024 30/09/2024 30/09/2024 30/09/2024

€ € € € €

officers 114,410 202,682 20,689 158,444 3,590
Key Management personnel 47,550 60,414 4,341 91,053 -
parties Connected to Key 
Management personnel 107,500 156,814 14,755 234,110 66

Total 269,460 419,910 39,785 483,607 3,656

an officer includes all paid staff of the Credit union excluding key management personnel, all
members of the Board oversight Committee and all other unpaid volunteers.

Key management personnel includes three members of the paid staff of the Credit union
comprising the management team and all members of the Board of Directors of the Credit union. 

parties connected to key management personnel includes any business in which a member of the
Board of Directors or the management team has a significant shareholding (10% or more of the
shares or voting rights in the business) and also includes a father, mother, spouse, civil
partner/cohabitant, son, daughter, brother or sister of any member of the Board of Directors or
the management team.

the loan balances outstanding from related parties of €419,910 at 30th September 2024 (2023:
€408,862) represent 0.87% (2023: 0.9%) of the overall gross loans outstanding at 30th September
2024.

26. insUrAnCe AGAinsT FrAUd
the Credit union has insurance against fraud in compliance with Section 47 of the Credit union
act, 1997 (as amended) in the amount of €5,200,000 (2023: €5,200,000).

25. relateD Party transaCtiOns

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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27. tHe irisH leaGue OF CreDit uniOns
rePuBliC OF irelanD PensiOn sCHeMe
Sligo Credit union limited participates in an
industry-wide pension scheme for employees
and made contributions to that scheme in
respect of two senior employees (the irish
league of Credit unions republic of ireland
pension Scheme). this is a funded defined
benefit scheme with assets managed by the
Scheme’s trustees.

on 31st March 2022, the defined benefit
scheme closed to future accrual and although
staff retained all the benefits that they had
earned in the scheme to that date, Sligo Credit
union limited and its employees ceased
making regular contributions to the scheme
and ceased earning any additional benefits
from the scheme.

at the date of closure of the scheme, there was
a past service deficit which was allocated to
each individual Credit union based on the total
benefits earned by staff in each Credit union.
Sligo Credit union limited’s allocation of that
past service deficit was €346,690. this total
cost was included in the income & expenditure
account for the year ended 30th September
2022. the deficit amount was paid to the
trustees of the scheme during that year.

as this is a pooled pension scheme, Sligo Credit
union limited remains liable to cover the cost
of their share of any future increase in the total
cost of providing the pension payments to
Credit union employees who were part of the
scheme.  Sligo Credit union limited could exit
the scheme and therefore never have to make
a potential additional payment requirement
but exiting the scheme would incur a
substantial additional cost.

if Credit unions exit the Scheme, they are
required to pay to the trustees the exit amount
which the trustees determine is required to
fund benefits in respect of their active, deferred
and pensioner members on a ‘no risk’ basis.
the exiting Credit union thereby settles any
liability they have to contribute to the Scheme
in the future without increasing the risk for
remaining credit unions.

the Scheme is a multi-employer scheme and
there is pooling of the assets, and the sharing
of risks associated with the liabilities for all
participating employers. Judgement is required
to assess whether Sligo Credit union limited
has sufficient information to provide an
appropriate allocation of pension assets and
liabilities. an assessment has been performed
of the information available and Sligo Credit
union limited has determined that there is
currently insufficient information available.
Consequently, Sligo Credit union limited
continues to account for the plan as a defined
contribution plan.

an actuarial review of the Scheme is normally
carried out every three years by the Scheme’s
independent, professionally qualified actuary.
the actuarial review considers the past and
future service liabilities of the Scheme. the last
completed triennial actuarial review was
carried out with an effective date of 29
February 2020, using the attained age
valuation method.

there was a review of the Scheme in
conjunction with advisors independent of the
trustees. the conclusion of this review was that
the Scheme should close to future accrual and
this occurred with effect from 31 March 2022
with an associated Funding plan.

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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28. rates OF interest CHarGeD On MeMBers lOans

2024 2024 2023
per month APr APr

ordinary Member loans 0.918% 11.02% 11.02%
Special rate education loans 0.580% 6.96% 6.96%
Special rate Car loans 0.759% 9.11% 9.11%
Special rate Home improvement loans 0.595% 7.14% 7.14%
Secure loans 0.427% 5.12% 5.12%

Green Category
green Homes (Ber B1-B2) 0.580% 6.96%
green Homes (Ber a) 0.427% 5.12%
Car electric 0.427% 5.12%

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.
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2024
inCOMe €

interest income 3,694,945
investment income rec'd/receivable within 1 year 831,804
Bad Debts recovered 295,865
other income 135,380
total income 4,957,994

exPenDiture €

net loan protection / life Savings insurance 324,514
Salaries and related expenses 1,513,858
Bad Debts Written off 303,720
Bad Debts provision 96,205
other expenses 2,045,695
total expenditure 4,283,992

ytD surplus (Deficit) 674,002

Sligo CreDit union unauDiteD aCCountS
inCOMe & exPenDiture aCCOunt
30th sePTeMber 2024
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2024
assets €

Cash and Current accounts 7,663,542
Minimum reserve Deposit Held 900,000

investments
irish and eea State Securities 7,537,997
accounts in authorised Credit institutions 25,035,932
Bank Bonds 5,248,162

other assets 6,000,000
total investments 52,405,633

loans 47,994,505
less provision For Bad Debts 2,943,277
Fixed assets less Depreciation 3,563,130
other assets 350,744
total assets 101,350,735

liaBilities €

Member Shares regular 80,658,154
other Member Funds 4,825,780
other liabilities 256,091
total liabilities 85,740,025

net Worth 15,610,710

represented By:

reserVes €

regulatory reserve 10,943,862
operational risk reserve 2,456,379
YtD Surplus (Deficit) 674,002
other reserves realised 1,536,467
total reserves 15,610,710

Sligo CreDit union unauDiteD aCCountS
BalanCe sHeet
30th sePTeMber 2024
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nOtiCe - BoYle CreDit union

Virtual aGM
you are invited to our annual General Meeting 

to be held virtually on
Date: Monday 16th December 2024 at 6.30pm

to regiSter Your intereSt in attenDing
please visit our website (www.boylecreditunion.com) 
or email info@boylecreditunion.com with your name, 

membership number, date of birth & address.

each member has to register individually 
in respect of multiple members in the one household 

(and/or joint-accounts if applicable).

instruction on attending the meeting are overleaf.
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inFOrMatiOn re JOininG tHe  Virtual CreDit uniOn aGM

• platForM: the platform used will be ZooM Webinar professional (licenced) and
is facilitated by MyWebinar.ie.  When registering, you might be asked to download
the ZooM app. if so, please do so. this should only take a few minutes depending 
on your connection.

• aCCeSS: access to the agM will be granted through a manual registration process,
requiring the following information:  Full name, Membership number, address, Date
of Birth and email address. once granted, an access link to the meeting will then be
sent to you in the days before the agM. Within a ZooM Webinar event, attending 
members are called attenDeeS. one device can be used per email address.

in a household where there might be a number of members joining, each member
granted access will need to attend the meeting on their own device using their own
email address. this is important when it comes to voting. We will cover this later in this
notification.

• notiFiCation tiMe-liMitS:  please let us know of your intention to join the meeting
no later than Saturday 14th December 2024 at 12.30pm.

• iDentiFiCation: identification requirements and safeguards are built into the 
registration process, and involve a number of steps within both ZooM Webinar 
professional and the Credit union’s own screening processes.

• Qna: When an attenDee wishes to communicate questions and comments during
the meeting, he or she shall “raise a hand” to indicate a desire to speak or shall 
submit a question in writing. attenDeeS’ cameras and microphones are turned off
by default, and only the facilitators can change these settings during the meeting.

• Voting: attenDeeS - and panelliStS in attendance who have voting rights - will
be afforded an opportunity to participate in all polls on an electronic basis by voting
in favour or against. polls are presented in the form of a balloting form with 
checkboxes beside the choices given. When this balloting form appears on screen 
you then can vote. the chair decides when each ballot is to close, and the result is 
then published on screen for all to see.

• DroppeD ConeCtion During Meeting: if, for some reason, your connection 
drops out during the meeting then once re-connection is established you should be
automatically re-admitted into the meeting. if not, then simply click onCe on the 
admission link you were originally sent by your branch. if your WiFi fails completely,
we recommend using your mobile phone as a WiFi ‘hotspot’ to reconnect to the 
internet.
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aGenDa

the agenda for the Virtual annual General Meeting is as follows:

1. the acceptance by the Board of Directors of the authorised representatives 
of members that are not natural persons

2. ascertainment that a quorum is present
3. adoption of Standing orders
4. reading and approval (or correction) of the minutes of the last annual 

general meeting
5. report of the Directors
6. proposed Special resolution

the members of Boyle Credit union limited resolve that the credit union 
transfers its engagements to Sligo Credit union limited in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended)

7. report of the Manager/Ceo and consideration of accounts
8. report of the auditor
9. report of the Board oversight Committee
10. Declaration of Dividend including the deduction of affiliation Fees from 

shares
11. Consideration of pre-submitted Motions
12. report of Credit Committee
13. report of Credit Control Committee
14. report of Membership Committee
15. report of nominating Committee
16. appointment of tellers
17. election of auditor
18. election to fill vacancies on the Board oversight Committee
19. election to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors
20. any other business
21. announcement of election results
22. adjournment or close of meeting

Michael McCauley
Hon. Secretary
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MeSSage FroM tHe CHairPersOn

our Ceo, Deputy Ceo and Staff continue to
work on your behalf to maintain the wide
range of financial services that are available
to us all, both online and from the Credit
union’s offices in Boyle and Keadue. We are
incredibly grateful to them all for their efforts
throughout the year.

i would also like to take this opportunity to
acknowledge and thank my colleagues on the
Board of Directors, the Board oversight
Committee and the many other committees,
who give so generously of their time to our
Credit union.

the Board of Directors, Ceo and Staff of Boyle
Credit union is committed to continuing to
provide you the Members and our Community
with a financially stable Credit union to
conduct your business.

to deliver on this commitment and to remain
sustainable and relevant as a Credit union we
have concluded discussions with Sligo Credit
union in relation to combining our resources
to become an even stronger Credit union. the
Board of Directors are of the view that by
combining our Credit unions we will build on
our proud record to ensure we continue
making a distinct and positive contribution to
the challenges and opportunities facing you
our Members and our Community.

in summary, this initiative provides assurance
on the continuation of services locally and
ensures that you the Members can avail of an
increased branch network and opening hours.
enhanced digital services such as debit cards
and current accounts, an increase in savings
limits, increased lending options with faster
decision time and personal borrowing of up
to €75,000.

Finally, i would like to thank you our
Members for your support in progressing this
merger. all of us at Boyle Credit union look
forward with confidence to continuing to
provide you with the widest possible range of
services to meet all your financial needs.

terry rooney
Chairperson

on behalf of the Board of Directors of Boyle Credit union, i am
pleased to present the annual report and Financial Statements of
your Credit union for the year ended 30thSeptember, 2024.
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DireCtOrs rePOrt

the directors present their annual report and
the audited Financial Statements for the
financial year ended 30 September 2024.

Objects
the purpose of the Credit union is to allow
members save together and lend to each other
at a fair and reasonable rate of interest. the
acceptance of member savings and lending to
members is carried out in accordance with
legislation and criteria determined by the irish
league of Credit unions and the Credit union
itself.

Principal risks and uncertainties
the Credit union, as with many other financial
institutions, continues to face uncertainties
arising from general economic conditions. the
Board of Directors is responsible for the general
control, direction and management of the
Credit union and for ensuring that they have in
place effective governance arrangements
including risk management systems and
internal audit functions. the Directors actively
monitor the effects of economic and other
conditions on the daily operations of the Credit
union and meet as a board (remotely or face-
to-face) as often as necessary, but at least
monthly, to discuss the risks and challenges
facing the Credit union and to discharge their
responsibilities. 

the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Credit union are loan default; not lending a
sufficient proportion of funds so that too much
of the Credit union's resources are tied up in
investment products; poor performance of
investments; the risk that the Credit union will
not have sufficient cash resources to meet day

to day running costs and repay members
savings when demanded (liquidity risk). the
Board appoints various sub committees, retains
the services of suitably qualified advisors and
appoints staff in order to assist in the
management of its principal risks and
uncertainties. these risks are managed and
controlled by the Credit union's Board of
Directors as follows:

Loan default 
the risk of members not repaying their loans
and defaulting on their loans. the directors
identify loan default as the greatest risk to the
Credit union. this risk is managed based on the
continuous update and improvement of lending
procedures; active monitoring of loans and
repayments and the continued training of all
relevant personnel within the Credit union. 

Not lending enough of surplus funds 
the risk of a reduced demand for loans
amongst members. Boyle Credit union limited
encourages lending by offering a wide range of
competitive lending products to its members.
the products and services are promoted by
regular marketing activities throughout the
year. the need to increase demand for loans is
balanced by the need to ensure that borrowers
have the capacity to repay the amount
borrowed. 

Investment Portfolio Performance 
the risk of the loss of capital or insufficient
return on investments in the Credit union's
investment portfolio. the Credit union's Board
of Directors regularly review and approve the
Credit union's investment policy in which it sets
out the types of investments within which the
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Credit union can invest funds. a key factor for
all investments is the need to balance the
secure return of capital with the interest yield.
Funds are invested in compliance with the
Credit union's policy and regulatory guidance. 

Liquidity risks
the risk that the Credit union will not have
enough cash available to manage the day to
day running of the Credit union; and repay
members' savings on demand. the liquidity
level of the Credit union is monitored on a
regular basis to ensure funds are maintained in
short term deposits at all times so that it has
sufficient cash to meet its obligations as they
fall due. 

Operational Risk 
the risk of loss (financial or otherwise) arising
as a result of inadequate internal processes,
people and systems. the Credit union manages
operational risk through the recruitment and
employment of suitably qualified staff and
management who ensure that appropriate
processes, procedures and systems are
implemented and applied. this is further
supported by a robust reporting structure and
active management of operational risk events.

Strategy/Business Model Risk
the risk which the Credit union faces if they
cannot compete effectively or operate a viable
business model and the inherent risk in the
Credit union’s strategy.

Business review
the income and expenditure account, the
Balance Sheet and the Statement of Changes in
reserves and the Statement of Cash Flows for

the year ended 30 September 2024 are set out
on pages 12 to 15.

in the current financial year ended 30
September 2024, the Credit union experienced
a decrease in savings and a decrease in loans
granted to members. Members' savings
decreased by €97,747 to €16,241,782. loans to
members decreased by €606,092 to
€10,514,685. the loan to savings ratio was
64.74% at the year-end (2023: 68.06%).

total income for the year decreased from
€941,564 in 2023 to €908,797 in 2024. income
from loans to members decreased by €46,928.
income from investments increased by €14,260.
total expenditure increased from €884,886 in
2023 to €1,305,099 in 2024. expenditure for the
year includes an impairment loss on the credit
union building at Boyle of €404,102 following
an independent valuation of the building
carried out in the financial year.

overall a deficit of €396,302 was incurred for
the year, which compares to the 2023 surplus of
€56,678. the deficit has been taken from the
Credit union’s accumulated surplus brought
forward at the start of the financial year and
from a transfer from the distribution reserve. 

the Directors consider that the level of business
conducted throughout the year and the
financial position at the year-end as set out in
the financial statements is satisfactory, given
the current challenging environment.

Dividends and loan interest rebate
in September 2024, the Central Bank of ireland
issued general instructions for all Credit unions

DireCtOrs rePOrt contd.
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to demonstrate prudent forward-looking
capital reserve management in the current
challenging and uncertain environment. in
accordance with this instruction, the Credit
union’s Board of Directors for the year end 30
September 2024 do not recommend the
payment of a dividend on shares or a rebate on
interest paid by members on loans throughout
the year (2023: €nil proposed dividend on
shares and interest rebate on loans). 

Future Developments
the Directors anticipate that surpluses may
decline over the next few years, arising from the
uncertainties caused by declines in investment
returns, changes in the banking sector,
international tax changes and climate change.
However, the Directors are confident that the
solvent financial position of Boyle Credit union
limited will be maintained. the Directors
expect in the coming years to develop and
expand the Credit union's current activities and
they are confident of its ability to operate
successfully in the future.

Board of Directors
the directors of the Credit union at 30
September 2024 and during the year were as
follows: 

terry rooney, Dara Callaghan, Michael
McCauley, Kathleen Hanmore, Martin Dolan,
Bernie Mullins, Breda purcell, Maura Breheny,
Marie Kennedy, paul Kelly and Sean Donoghue.

in accordance with the Credit union's
governance policy and the Credit union act
1997 (as amended), the term of office of a
member of the Board of Directors shall not

extend beyond three subsequent agMs after
being so elected. Having served this term a
director must retire at the next agM of the
Credit union. a retiring member of the Board is
eligible for re-election once (s)/he has not
served for more than twelve years in aggregate
on the previous fifteen years on either the
Board of Directors or the Board oversight
Committee. 

Board Oversight Committee 
the members of the Board oversight
Committee of the Credit union at 30 September
2024 and during the year were as follows:
Danny tiernan, Sinead McCafferty and theresa
Kearney.

in accordance with the Credit union's
governance policy and the Credit union act
1997 (as amended), the term of office of a
member of the Board oversight Committee
shall not extend beyond three subsequent
agMs after being so elected. Having served this
term a committee member must retire at the
next agM of the Credit union. a retiring
committee member is eligible for re-election,
once s(he) has not served more than twelve
years in aggregate in the previous fifteen years
on either the Board of Directors or the Board
oversight Committee.

regulatory reserve
at 30 September 2024, reserves held in
regulatory reserve represented 11.71% of the
total assets of the Credit union (2023: 11.43%).

Membership of Credit union
Membership of Boyle Credit union at 30
September 2024 stood at 5,887 (2023: 5,763).
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authorisation
the Credit union is authorised to conduct
payment services.  it is regulated by the Central
Bank of ireland for these activities.

accounting records
the Directors believe that they comply with the
requirements of section 108 of the Credit union
act 1997 (as amended) with regard to keeping
proper accounting records for the Credit union,
by employing accounting personnel with
appropriate expertise and by providing
adequate resources to the financial function.
the accounting records of the Credit union are
maintained at the Credit union's premises at
green Street, Boyle, Co. roscommon.

Post Balance sheet events
no matters or circumstances have arisen since
the end of the financial year which significantly
affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the Credit union, the results of
those operations or the state of affairs of the
Credit union in financial years subsequent to
the financial year ended 30 September 2024.

auditors
the auditors, o'Boyle & Co., have indicated their
willingness to continue in office in accordance
with Section 115 of the Credit union act 1997
(as amended).

approved by the Board of Directors and signed
on its behalf by:

terry rooney 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors

Michael McCauley
Secretary of the Board of Directors

Date: 5th november 2024
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StateMent oF DireCtOrs' resPOnsiBilities
FOr tHe FinanCial year enDeD 30 sePteMBer 2024

the Directors are responsible for preparing the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable irish law and generally accepted
accounting practice in ireland including the
accounting Standards issued by the Financial
reporting Council.

the Credit union act 1997 (as amended)
requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Credit union and of the income and
expenditure of the Credit union for that
financial year. in preparing these financial
statements the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and apply
them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Credit union will continue 
in business.

the Directors confirm that they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the
financial statements.

the Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Credit union and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with applicable irish
law and generally accepted accounting
practice in ireland, including the standards
issued by the Financial reporting Council, and
in particular FrS102 “the Financial reporting
Standard applicable in the uK and republic of

ireland”. they are responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Credit union and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

the Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and
financial information included on the Credit
union's website. legislation in ireland
governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.

in so far as the Directors are aware:
• there is no relevant audit information

(information needed by the Credit union's 
auditor in connection with preparing the 
auditor's report) of which the Credit union's 
auditor is unaware, and

• the directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Credit union's auditor is 
aware of that information.

approved by the Board of Directors and signed
on its behalf by:

terry rooney 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors

Michael McCauley
Secretary of the Board of Directors

Date: 5th november 2024
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report oF tHe BOarD OVersiGHt COMMittee
FOr tHe FinanCial year enDeD 30 sePteMBer 2024

statement of Board Oversight Committee’s
responsibilities
the Credit union act 1997 (as amended)
requires the appointment of a Board oversight
Committee to assess whether the Board of
Directors has operated in accordance with part
iV, part iV (a) and any regulations made for the
purposes of part iV or part iV(a) of the Credit
union act 1997 (as amended) and any other
matter prescribed by the Central Bank of
ireland in respect of which they are to have
regard in relation to the Board of Directors.

Board Oversight Committee report
the function of the Board oversight Committee
is to assess whether the Board of Directors has
operated in accordance with the governance
requirements set out in legislation, regulations,
and guidance.

the Board oversight Committee of Boyle Credit
union limited has in furtherance of its role:

• attended all meetings of the Board of 
Directors throughout the year;

• Met as a committee bi-monthly (previously 
monthly to april 2024) as required by the 
legislation;

• Formally met with the Board of Directors once
a quarter and provided a performance report
to the Board of

• Directors as required by legislation;
• participated in various committee meetings 

throughout the year:
• participated in specialised Board oversight 

Committee training during the year.

the Board oversight Committee is satisfied to
report that the actions and decisions of the
Board of Directors of Boyle Credit union

limited are compliant with current legislation
and regulation.

the Board oversight Committee is satisfied that
the method of continual reviews of the Credit
union’s processes and procedures, as employed
by the Board, ensures that Boyle Credit union
limited meets all of the requirements laid down
from a legal and regulatory perspective.

approved by the Board oversight Committee
and signed on its behalf by: 

Danny tiernan
Chairperson of the Board Oversight Committee

Date: 5th november 2024
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inDePenDent auDitOrs report

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of
Boyle Credit union limited for the financial
year ended 30 September 2024 which comprise
the income and expenditure account, the
Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in
reserves, the Statement of Cash Flows and
notes to the financial statements, including the
summary of significant accounting policies set
out in note 2. the financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is
irish law including FrS 102 ''the Financial
reporting Standard applicable in the uK and
republic of ireland'' issued by the Financial
reporting Council and the Credit union act
1997 (as amended).

in our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the 

assets, liabilities, and financial position of the
Credit union as at 30 September 2024 and of
its deficit for the financial year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with FrS 102 ''the Financial reporting 
Standard applicable in the uK and republic of
ireland''; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Credit union act
1997 (as amended).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
international Standards on auditing (ireland)
(iSas (ireland)) and applicable law. our
responsibilities under those standards are
described below in the auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Credit
union in accordance with the ethical

requirements that are relevant to our audit of
financial statements in ireland, including the
ethical Standard for auditors (ireland) issued by
the irish auditing and accounting Supervisory
authority (iaaSa), and the provisions available
for audit of Small entities, in circumstances set
out in note 25 to the financial statements, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
in auditing the financial statements, we have
concluded that the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have
not identified any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the Credit union's ability to continue
as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

our responsibilities and the responsibilities of
the directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
the directors are responsible for the other
information. the other information comprises
the information included in the annual report
other than the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other
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information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the course of the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. if we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. if, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Credit union act 1997 (as amended).

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken
in the course of the audit, we report that:

- We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary for
the purposes of our audit.

- in our opinion proper accounting records have
been kept by the Credit union.

- the financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records.

respective responsibilities

responsibilities of directors for the financial
statements
as explained more fully in the Statement of
Directors' responsibilities as set out on page 7,
the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the
directors' are responsible for assessing the
Credit union's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Credit union or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with iSas
(ireland) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they

inDepenDent auDitOrs rePOrt contd.
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could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

Further details relating to our work as auditor
is set out in the Scope of responsibilities
Statement contained in the appendix of this
report, which is to be read as an integral part of
our report.

the purpose of our audit work and to whom we
owe our responsibilities
our report is made solely to the Credit union’s
members, as a body, in accordance with section
120 of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended).
our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Credit union’s members
those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.

to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Credit union and the Credit
union’s members, as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

eoin O'Boyle
for and on behalf of O'BOyle & CO.
Chartered accountants and statutory audit
Firm
Church street
longford

Date: 5th november 2024

inDepenDent auDitOrs rePOrt contd.
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appenDix to tHe
inDePenDent auDitOr’s rePOrt

as part of an audit in accordance with iSas
(ireland), we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. the risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

- obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Credit union's internal control.

- evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Credit union's 
ability to continue as going concerns. if we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor's report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Credit union to cease to 
continue as going concerns.

- evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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inCOMe & exPenDiture aCCount
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30th sePTeMber 2024

2024 2023
inCoMe note € €

interest on members' loans 4 850,246 897,174 
other interest income and similar income 5 58,427 44,167  
net interest income 908,673 941,341 

other income 7 124 223 
Total income 908,797 941,564 

exPendiTUre € €

employment costs 8 280,250 325,359  
other management expenses (Schedule 1) 462,451 450,566  
Depreciation 57,161 59,457  
impairment of tangible fixed assets 404,102 -  
Bad and doubtful debt provision 12.4 3,652 30,486  
Bad and doubtful debt written off 12.4 127,688 54,524 
Bad debt recovered 12.4 (30,205) (35,506)

Total expenditure 1,305,099 884,886   

(deficit)/surplus of income over expenditure (396,302) 56,678
other comprehensive income/(deficit) - -

Total comprehensive income/(deficit) (396,302) 56,678

the financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 5th november 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Joe Currid Chief Executive Officer 

Terry rooney Chair

Date: 5th november 2024
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BalanCe SHeet
As AT 30th sePTeMber 2024

2024 2023 
AsseTs note € €

Cash and deposits at bank 10 1,475,206  2,387,637  
tangible fixed assets 11 468,810 920,052  
loans to members 12 10,514,685 11,120,777  
provision for bad debts 12 (948,516) (944,864)
Central bank minimum reserve 13 54,412 55,934 
prepayments and accrued income 14 139,674  63,405  
Deposits and investments - cash equivalents 10 & 15 3,412,223  2,770,352 
Deposits and investments - other 15 3,776,347 2,976,347  

ToTAl AsseTs 18,892,841 19,349,640

liAbiliTies € €

Members' shares 16 16,241,782  16,339,529 
other creditors and accruals 17 133,886 96,636  
total liabilities 16,375,668 16,436,165

neT AsseTs 2,517,173  2,913,475

MeMbers reserVe € €

regulatory reserve 2,211,620 2,211,620  
operational risk reserve 142,000 142,000  
Distribution reserve 155,571 323,332  
non-distributable income reserve 7,982 7,982 
undistributed surplus reserve -  228,541

ToTAl MeMbers resoUrCes 2,517,173 2,913,475 

the financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 5th november 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Joe Currid Chief Executive Officer 

Terry rooney Chair

Date: 5th november 2024
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operational nondistributable Undistributed
regulatory risk distribution income surplus

reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  Total

at 1 october 2022 2,211,620  140,245  323,332  7,982  173,618  2,856,797  
total comprehensive income/(deficit) 
for the year -  -  -  -  56,678  56,678  
Surplus allocation in financial year -  1,755  -  -  (1,755) - 
transfer between reserves -  -  -  -  -  -

At 30 september 2023 2,211,620  142,000  323,332  7,982  228,541  2,913,475 

at 1 october 2023 2,211,620  142,000  323,332  7,982  228,541  2,913,475  
total comprehensive income/(deficit)
for the year -  -  -  -  (396,302) (396,302) 
Surplus allocation in financial year -  -  -  -  -  - 
transfer between reserves -  -  (167,761) -  167,761  - 

At 30 september 2024 2,211,620  142,000  155,571  7,982  -  2,517,173 

(i) regulatory reserve
Following the commencement of Section 13 of the Credit union and Co-operation with overseas
regulators act 2012, the requirement for Credit unions (under the principal Credit union act
1997) to transfer 10% of their annual surplus to their Statutory reserve (now known as the
regulatory reserve) each financial year has been removed. Credit unions are required to
maintain a minimum regulatory reserve of 10% of the total assets of the Credit union in
accordance with the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). the Board of Directors have not made
any transfers in the current financial year to the regulatory reserve as the regulatory reserve
stood at 11.71% of total assets at 30 September 2024 (2023: 11.43%), which is in excess of the
required limit of 10%.

(ii) Distribution reserve
in prior years, the Credit union allocated surplus of income over expenditure to a Distribution
reserve. During the current financial year, a transfer of €167,761 was made from this reserve to
the undistributed surplus reserve so as to absorb the deficit of €167,761 that had arisen in this
reserve during the year.

StateMent oF CHanGes in reserVes
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30th sePTeMber 2024
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(iii) Operational risk reserve
in accordance with section 45 of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended), Boyle Credit union
limited put in place an operational risk reserve. the Board completed an internal process of
assessing the level of the reserve required to cover the operational risk within the Credit union
and they are satisfied that no further transfer to the reserve is required at present. the
operational risk reserve as a % of total assets as at 30 September 2024 was 0.75%, (2023:
0.73%).

(iv) undistributed surplus reserve
are the accumulated surpluses to date that have not been declared as dividends or loan
interest rebates returnable to members or set aside to the regulatory, operational risk or other
reserves.

(v) non-Distributable income reserve
the non-distributable income reserve related to income receivable by the Credit union, which
is due to be paid to the Credit union greater than 12 months from the balance sheet date.

BoYle CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024
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StateMent oF CasH FlOWs
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30th sePTeMber 2024

2024 2023 
note € €

opening cash and cash equivalents 5,157,989 4,384,327

Cash flows from operating activities
loans repaid 3,818,421 4,420,766  
loans granted (3,340,017) (4,177,439)
loan interest income 852,048 894,776  
investment income 46,474 27,763  
other income received 124 223  
Bad debts recovered 30,205 35,506  
operating expenses (742,701) (775,925)
Movement in other assets (64,596) 44,913 
Movement in other liabilities 37,250 29,852
net cash generated from operating activities 637,208  500,435

Cash flows from investing activities
purchase of tangible fixed assets (10,021) (82,789)
net cash flow (to)/from other investing activities (800,000) 400,000
net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (810,021) 317,211

Cash flows from financing activities
Members' shares received 7,232,226 8,873,010  
Members' shares withdrawn (7,329,973) (8,916,994)
net cash used in financing activities (97,747) (43,984)

net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (270,560) 773,662
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 10 4,887,429 5,157,989
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noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents
For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30th sePTeMber 2024

1. leGal anD reGulatOry FraMeWOrK
Boyle Credit union limited is established under
the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). the
Credit union is registered with the registrar of
Credit unions (no. 382Cu) and is regulated by
the Central Bank of ireland. the principal place
of business is green Street, Boyle, Co.
roscommon with a sub office located in
Keadue, Co. roscommon. the nature of the
Credit union's operations and its principal
activities are set out in the Directors' report on
pages 4 to 6.

2. aCCOuntinG POliCies
the following principal accounting policies
have been applied consistently in dealing with
items, which are considered material in relation
to the Credit union’s financial statements:

2.1 statement of compliance and basis of
preparation
the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with applicable irish accounting
standards, including Financial reporting
Standard 102 ‘'the Financial reporting
Standard applicable in the uK and republic of
ireland’ (FrS 102) and irish statute comprising
of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). 

the financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis.

2.2 Currency
the financial statements are prepared in euro
(€), which is the functional currency of the
Credit union. Monetary amounts in these
financial statements are rounded to the nearest
euro.

2.3 Going concern
the financial statements are prepared on the

going concern basis. the directors of the Credit
union believe that it is appropriate as the Credit
union: 
- is maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity

and in compliance with Central Bank of 
ireland limits; and 

- has reserves that are currently above the 
minimum legal requirements of the Central 
Bank of ireland. 

However, the Directors recognise that in the
current regulatory and business environment,
the current business model for the Credit union
may become unsuitable in the long term.
interest on loans combined with interest on
investments may become insufficient to cover
both the cost of running the Credit union. the
Directors are actively addressing a long term
strategy for the Credit union, including
contracting the level of service and expanding
its product range.

2.4 income recognition
income is recognised to the extent that it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Credit union and the revenue can be
reliably measured. income is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received. the
following criteria must also be met before
income is recognised:

(i) interest on members' loans
interest on loans to members is recognised
using the effective interest method, and is
calculated and accrued on a daily basis

(ii) investment income
investment income is accounted for in
accordance with the initial classification of
investments at the outset and based on meeting
certain criteria (see 2.8 investments below).
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noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.

(iii) Other income
other income such as entrance fees arise in
connection to specific transactions. income
relating to individual transactions is recognised
when the transaction is completed.

2.5  Dividend and loan interest rebate
Dividends and loan interest rebates are made
from current year’s surplus or the distribution
reserves set aside for that purpose. the Board’s
proposed distribution to members each year is
based on the dividend and loan interest rebate
policy of the Credit union and guidance from
the Central Bank of ireland. 

the rate of dividend and loan interest rebate
recommended by the board will reflect: 
- the risk profile for the Credit union, 

particularly in its loan and investment 
portfolios;

- the board's desire to maintain a stable rather
than a volatile rate of dividend and interest 
rebate in each year; and 

- members' legitimate dividend and loan 
interest rebate expectations;

all dominated by prudence and the need to
sustain the long-term viability of the Credit
union. 

For this reason, the board will seek to build up
its reserves to absorb unexpected shocks and
still remain above minimum regulatory
requirements. 

the Credit union accounts for dividends and
rebates on loan interest when members ratify
such payments at the annual general Meeting.

2.6  taxation
the Credit union is not subject to income tax or

corporation tax on its activities as a Credit
union.

2.7  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and cash deposits with bank and
investments with the original maturity of less
than or equal to three months or are capable of
being accessed within three months.

2.8  investments
investment income is recognised in accordance
with the investment type.

(i) Cash and short-term deposits
Cash, short-term deposits and term deposits are
recognised at the deposit amount. interest
receivable is recognised in the income and
expenditure account on an accruals basis and
in the balance sheet as accrued income.

(ii) Fixed-term deposit accounts
term deposits and fixed interest investment
bonds with fixed maturity dates are valued at
the lower of cost or encashment value and
interest is recognised in the income and
expenditure account when it is received or
irrevocably receivable.

(iii) Bonds with guaranteed capital and variable
interest rates
interest income is recognised as received. Some
bonds pay high rates of interest in early
financial years and lower rates in later financial
years. paying higher amounts in early financial
years reduces (impairs) the capital value of the
bond. the capital value of the bond is tested
annually for impairment and impairments
losses are taken to the income and expenditure
account. impairment gains which reverse a
previous impairment loss are taken to the



71

BoYle CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.

income and expenditure account with any gains
in excess of the cost of the product ignored until
the bond matures.

(iv) Held at amortised cost
investments designated on initial recognition as
held at amortised cost are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment. this means that the
investment is measured at the amount paid for
the investment, minus any repayments of the
principal; plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the amount
at initial recognition and the maturity amount,
minus, in the case of a financial asset, any
reduction for impairment or un-collectability.
this effectively spreads out the return on such
investments over time, but does take account
immediately of any impairment in the value of
the investment

(v) Central Bank deposits
Credit unions are obliged to maintain certain
deposits with the Central Bank of ireland. these
deposits are technically assets of the Credit
union but to which the Credit union has
restricted access. the funds on deposit with the
Central Bank attract nominal interest and will
not ordinarily be returned to the Credit union
while it is a going concern. the amounts are
stated at the amount deposited plus accrued
income and are not subject to impairment
reviews.

(vi) investments at fair value
investments held for trading and investment in
stock market shares (i.e. non-convertible
preference shares and non-puttable ordinary
shares or preference shares) are included in this
category. Financial assets at fair value are

classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for sale in the short term. they are valued at fair
value (market value) at the financial year end
date and all gains and losses are taken to the
income and expenditure account. the fair value
of quoted investments is determined by
reference to bid prices at the close of business
on the balance sheet date. Where there is no
active market these assets will be carried at
cost less impairment.

2.9  investment properties
revalued investment properties are not
depreciated or amortised. Where the valuation
indicates a permanent diminution in the value
of the property, the permanent diminution is
charged to the income and expenditure
account. all other fluctuations in value are
transferred to a revaluation reserve.

2.10  Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation
tangible fixed assets which comprises of the
items below, are stated at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Costs includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and can include the
costs of site preparation, initial delivery and
handling, installation and assembly, and testing
of functionality. 

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
each item of property, fixtures, fittings and
equipment, and computer equipment, less its
residual value over its estimated useful life. the
categories of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated as follows:
Freehold buildings 2% Straight line
Fixtures, fittings & equipment 15% Straight line
Computer equipment 20% Straight line
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the gain or loss arising on the disposal of an
asset is determined as the differences between
the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the
asset, and is recognised in the income and
expenditure account.

2.11  impairment of tangible fixed assets
at each reporting end date, the Credit union
reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. if any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Credit union estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.   

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. in assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted. 

if the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income and
expenditure account. 

recognised impairment losses are reversed if,
and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss
have ceased to apply. Where an impairment
loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate

of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. a
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income and expenditure
account.

2.12  Financial instruments
the Credit union has elected to apply the
provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial
instruments’ and Section 12 ‘other Financial
instruments issues’ of FrS 102 to all of its
financial instruments.  Financial instruments are
recognised when the Credit union becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with
the net amounts presented in the financial
statements when, and only when, there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and
settle the liability simultaneously. 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangement entered into.

2.13  Basic financial assets
Basic financial assets are initially measured at
the transaction price, including transactions
costs and are subsequently carried at the
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Basic financial instruments include the
following:
(i) loans to members
loans to members are financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments. loans are
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recognised when cash is advanced to members
and measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

(ii) Other receivables
other receivables such as prepayments are
initially measured at transaction price including
transaction costs and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(iii) investments held at amortised cost
investments designated on initial recognition as
held at amortised cost are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment. this means that the
investment is measured at the amount paid for
the investment, minus any repayments of the
principal; plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the amount
at initial recognition and the maturity amount;
minus, in case of a financial asset, any reduction
for impairment or un-collectability. this
effectively spreads out the return on such
investments over time, but does take account
immediately of any impairment in the value of
the investment.

2.12.14  impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those held at fair
value, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each reporting end date. 

Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows have been affected. if an asset
is impaired, the impairment loss is the
difference between the carrying amount and
the present value of the expected cash flows

discounted at the assets original effective
interest rate.

in the case of impairment of loans to members,
the Credit union assess if there is objective
evidence that any of its loans are impaired with
due consideration of environmental factors.
the loans are assessed collectively in groups
that share similar credit risk characteristics.
individually significant loans are assessed on a
loan-by-loan basis. in addition, if there is
objective evidence that any individual loan is
impaired, a specific loss will be recognised. Bad
debt provisioning is monitored by the Credit
union and the Credit union assesses and
approves its provisions and the adequacy of
same on a quarterly basis.  any impairment
losses are recognised in the income and
expenditure account.

if there is a decrease in the impairment loss
arising from an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the impairment is
reversed. the reversal is such that the current
carrying amount does not exceed what the
carrying amount would have been, had the
impairment not previously been recognised.
the impairment reversal is recognised in the
income and expenditure account.

2.162.15 De-recognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire or are settled or when the Credit
union transfers to another party substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets or if some significant risks and
rewards of ownership are retained but control
of the assets has transferred to another party
that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to the
unrelated third party. 
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in the case of loans to members, loans are
derecognised, when the right to receive cash
flows from the loans have expired, usually when
all amounts outstanding have been repaid by
the member. Boyle Credit union limited does
not transfer loans to third parties.

2.16  Bad debt provision
allowances for impaired loans represent
reserves and/or provisions made during the
financial year less amounts utilised or realised
charged against the surplus for the financial
year. amounts are created after a detailed
review of individual loans and groups of loans.
allowances are established by reviewing the
credit worthiness of individual borrowers and
the value of collateral underlying the loan.
general allowances are measured based on
resolution 49 of the irish league of Credit
unions. Bad debts in the Credit union are
recognised when there is a reasonable doubt
that the full amount of principal will not be
collected, or the financial capacity of the
borrower has deteriorated such that the
recovery of the whole or part of an outstanding
loan advanced is in doubt. in all cases where it
is impractical to estimate the recoverable
amount the carrying amount is reduced to zero.

2.17  Basic financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities are initially recognised
at the transaction price, including transaction
costs, unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction, where the debt
instrument is measured at the present value of
future payments discounted at a market rate of
interest. Financial liabilities are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(i) Members' shares
Members' shares in Boyle Credit union limited

are redeemable and therefore are classified as
financial liabilities. they are initially recognised
at the amount of cash deposited and
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(ii) Other payables
other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less. if not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. other payables are recognised
initially at transaction price and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.182.18  De-recognition of financial liability
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligations of the Credit union specified in the
contract are discharged, cancelled or expired.

2.19  employee Benefits 
(i) Holiday Pay
a liability is recognised to the extent of any
unused holiday pay entitlement, which is
accrued at the Balance Sheet date and carried
forward to future periods. this is measured at
the undiscounted salary cost of the future
holiday entitlement so accrued at the Balance
Sheet date. 

(ii) Pension scheme
the Credit union operates a defined
contribution pension scheme for employees.
the assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Credit union. annual
contributions payable to the Credit union's
pension scheme are charged to the revenue
account in the period to which they relate.

2.20  Distribution
Boyle Credit union limited's policy is to pay a
reasonable rate of dividend and loan interest
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rebate subject to covering operating expenses
and meeting reserve requirements as set out in
the Credit union’s reserve Management policy.

2.21  reserves
(i)  regulatory reserve
the Credit union act 1997 (regulatory
requirements) regulations 2016 (and its
amendments) requires Credit unions to
establish and maintain a minimum regulatory
reserve requirement of at least 10 per cent of
the assets of the Credit union. this reserve is to
be perpetual in nature, freely available to
absorb losses, realised financial reserves that
are unrestricted and non-distributable.

(ii)  Operational risk reserve
Section 45(5)(a) of the Credit union act 1997 (as
amended) requires each Credit union to
maintain an additional reserve that it has
assessed is required for operational risk having
regard to the nature, scale and complexity of
the Credit union. the reserve should be
separate, distinct and in addition to the reserves
the Credit union is required to hold in its
regulatory reserve.

the definition of operational risk is the risk of
losses stemming from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. the Credit union has
established an operational risk reserve under
Section 45(5)(a) of the act, which is separate,
distinct and in addition to the reserves that the
Credit union holds in its regulatory reserve. the
Credit union has adopted the 'Basic indicator
approach' as proposed under Basel ii capital
adequacy rules in calculating the minimum
amounts to be held in this reserve. therefore,
the Credit union will hold an operational risk
reserve, which will at a minimum equal 15% of
the average positive gross income for the

current and previous two years. For any year in
which there was a deficit this will be excluded
from the calculation. 

(iii) Distribution reserve
this reserve is made up of accumulated
surpluses from prior years which have been set
aside for the purpose of future dividend and
loan interest rebate payments.

(iv) non-Distributable income reserve
income that has been recognised in the
financial statements but will not be received
within 12 months of the Balance Sheet date is
classified as “non-distributable” and is not
distributable as a dividend or loan interest
rebate in accordance with Section 31 of the
Credit union act 1997 (regulatory
requirements) regulations 2016. a
reclassification between non-distributable and
distributable is made as investments come to
within 12 months of maturity date.

(v) undistributed surplus reserve
undistributed surplus reserves are the
accumulated surpluses to date that have not
been declared as dividends or loan interest
rebate returnable to members or set aside to
the regulatory or operational risk reserves.

2.22  Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
transactions, during the financial year, which
are denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the
date of the transaction.  the resulting exchange
differences are dealt with in the income and
expenditure account.
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3. CritiCal aCCOuntinG JuDGeMents 
anD estiMates
the preparation of financial statements
requires the use of certain accounting
estimates. it also requires the Directors to
exercise judgement in applying the Credit
union’s accounting policies. the areas requiring
a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
and the areas where assumptions or estimates
are most significant to the financial statements
are disclosed below:

adoption of going concern basis for financial
statements preparation
the Directors have prepared cash flow
projections for a period that exceeds twelve
months from the date of the approval of the
financial statements. these projections indicate
that there are no material uncertainty
regarding the Credit union’s ability to meet its
liabilities as they fall due, and to continue as a
going concern in this period. on this basis the
Directors consider it appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
accordingly, these financial statements do not
include any adjustments to the carrying
amounts and classification of assets and
liabilities that may arise if the Credit union was
unable to continue as a going concern.

impairment losses on loans to members
the Credit union's accounting policy for
impairment of financial assets is set out in note
2.14. the estimation of loan losses is inherently
uncertain and depends upon many factors,
including loan loss trends, credit risk
characteristics in loan classes, local and
international economic climates, conditions in
various sectors of the economy to which the
Credit union is exposed, and, other external
factors such as legal and regulatory

requirements. Credit risk is identified, assessed
and measured through the use of rating and
scoring tools with emphasis on weeks in arrears
and other observable credit risk metrics. the
ratings influence the management of individual
loans. the credit rating triggers the impairment
assessment and if relevant the raising of
specific provisions on individual loans where
there is doubt about their recoverability. loan
loss provisioning is monitored by the Credit
union, and the Credit union assesses and
approves its provisions and provision adequacy
on a monthly basis. Key assumptions
underpinning the Credit union’s estimates of
collective provisions for loans with similar
credit risk characteristics, and, incurred But not
reported provisions (“iBnr”) are based on the
historical experiences of the Credit union’s
allied to the Credit union’s judgement of
relevant conditions in the wider technological,
market, economic or legal environment in
which the Credit union operates. assumptions
are back tested with the benefit of experience.
after a period of time, when it is concluded that
there is no real prospect of recovery of
loans/part of loans which have been subjected
to a specific provision, the Credit union writes
off that amount of the loan deemed
irrecoverable against the specific provision held
against the loan.

useful lives of tangible fixed assets and
impairment
long-lived assets comprising primarily of
buildings, fixtures, fittings and equipment, and
computer equipment, represent a portion of
total assets. the annual depreciation charge
depends primarily on the estimated lives of
each type of asset and, in certain circumstances,
estimates of residual values. the directors
regularly review these useful lives and change
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them if necessary to reflect current conditions.
in determining these useful lives management
consider technological change, patterns of
consumption, physical condition and expected
economic utilisation of the assets. Changes in
the useful lives can have a significant impact on
the depreciation charge for the financial year.

the Credit union buildings are carried in the
financial statements at cost less accumulated
annual depreciation (2% straight line per
annum). the annual depreciation charge
applied depends primarily on the estimated life
and residual value of the tangible assets. the
Directors regularly review the useful lives by
considering the expected economic utilisation
of the buildings and their physical conditions.

the Credit union carries out a review for
impairment of the tangible asset if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the net
book value of the tangible assets may not be
recoverable. impairment reviews comprise a
comparison of the net book value of the
tangible asset with the recoverable amount
(the higher of net realisable value and value in
use). to the extent that the net book value
exceeds the recoverable amount for an asset,
the tangible asset is impaired and is written
down. any impaired loss is recognised in the
income and expenditure account. the net book
value of buildings subject to depreciation and
impairment charge at the financial year end
date was €394,162 (2023: €811,488).

4. interest On MeMBers’ lOans

2024 2023
€ €

Closing accrued interest receivable 21,613  23,415  
loan interest received in financial year 852,048  894,776  
opening accrued loan interest receivable (23,415) (21,017)
Total interest on members’ loans 850,246  897,174

5. OtHer interest inCOMe anD siMilar inCOMe

2024 2023
€ €

Closing accrued investment income receivable 
within 12 months 35,377  23,424  
investment income received in financial year 46,474  27,763  
opening accrued investment income receivable (23,424) (7,020) 
Total other interest income and similar income 58,427  44,167
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6. inTeresT PAyAble And diVidends
the dividend and any loan interest rebate are
formally proposed by the Directors after the year
end and are confirmed by the members at the
annual general Meeting. as a result, the proposed
dividend and loan interest rebate for the current
year does not represent a liability at the Balance
Sheet date and the dividend and loan interest
rebate included in the Statement of Changes in
reserves in the current year relates to dividends
and loan interest rebates paid to members for the
prior year.

there have been no dividends or loan interest
rebates paid to members during the last two
financial years ended 30 September 2023 and
2024. at the financial year end the directors have
not allocated any monies to the Distribution
reserve and therefore no dividend or loan interest
rebate is proposed for the year ended 30
September 2024.

7. OtHer inCOMe
2024 2023

€ €

entrance fees 124  223
total Other income 124  223

8. eMPlOyees anD eMPlOyMent COsts
the average monthly number of employees during
the financial year was:

2024 2023
number number

Management and Staff 
(full time equivalents) 7  8

the aggregate payroll costs incurred during the
year comprise:

the staff costs comprise: 2024 2023
€ €

Wages and salaries 243,828  278,936  
employer prSi contributions 22,572  31,671  
pension costs 13,850  14,752 
total employment costs 280,250  325,359

9. Key ManaGeMent PersOnnel
the directors of Boyle Credit union limited are all
unpaid volunteers. the management personnel
compensation is as follows:

2024 2023
€ €

Short term employee benefits 
(incl. employer prSi 
contributions) 119,939  117,064
payments to pension scheme 7,560  5,271 
total key management 
personnel compensation 127,499  122,335

Key management personnel remuneration costs
are included in the total staff costs (note 8).

Short-term employee benefits include wages,
salaries, social security contributions and paid
annual leave.



79

BoYle CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.

10. CasH anD CasH equiValents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand and deposits and investments
with a maturity of less than or equal to three months.

2024 2023
€ €

Cash and bank balances 1,475,206  2,387,637  
Deposits and investments (note 15.1) 3,412,223  2,770,352
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,887,429  5,157,989

Fixtures,
Freehold fittings and Computer
Buildings equipment equipment total

€ € € €

Cost
at 1 october 2023 1,086,675  142,877  204,579  1,434,131  
additions 8,683  176  1,162  10,021
at 30 September 2024 1,095,358  143,053  205,741  1,444,152 
Depreciation and impairments
at 1 october 2023 275,187  113,917  124,975  514,079  
Charge for the financial year 426,009  7,242  28,012  461,263
at 30 September 2024 701,196  121,159  152,987  975,342
net book value
at 30 September 2024 394,162  21,894  52,754  468,810
at 30 September 2023 811,488  28,960  79,604  920,052

Freehold buildings include both Credit union buildings at Boyle and Keadue. in May 2024,
oates Breheny property Services limited, auctioneers and valuers carried out open market
valuations of both Credit union buildings, valuing them at €320,000 (impaired) and €90,000
(not impaired). the directors have accepted both valuations and have included in the finan-
cial statements, in addition to the annual depreciation charge, an impairment adjustment of
€404,102 to reduce the net book value of both buildings to €394,162 as at 30 September 2024. 

11. tanGiBle FixeD assets
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12. lOans tO MeMBers - FinanCial assets

12.1  loans to members

2024 2023
€ €

gross loans to members as at 1 october 11,120,777  11,418,628  
advanced during the financial year 3,340,017  4,177,439  
repaid during the financial year (3,818,421) (4,420,766)
loans written off (127,688) (54,524)
Gross loans to members as at 30 september 12.2 10,514,685  11,120,777

impairment allowances
the provision for bad debts is analysed as follows;
individually significant loans (322,641) (389,194)
Collectively assessed loans (625,875) (555,670)
loan provision for bad and doubtful debts 
as at 30 september 12.3 (948,516) (944,864)
net loans to members as at 30 september 12.2 9,566,169  10,175,913 

12.2  Credit risk disclosures
the Credit union does not offer mortgages and as a result all loans to members are
unsecured, except that there are restrictions on the extent to which borrowers may withdraw
their savings whilst loans are outstanding. 

the Credit union complies with Section 12 of the Credit union act 1997 (regulatory 
requirements) regulations 2016 (and its amendments). this regulation: 

- restricts the concentration of lending by the Credit union within certain sectors or to 
connected persons or groups (concentration limits);

- restricts the absolute amount of lending to certain sectors to a set percentages of the 
regulatory reserve (large exposure limit);

- restricts the loan duration of certain loans to specified limits (maturity limits);
- require specified lending practices to be in place where loans are made to certain sectors

such as commercial loans, community loans or loans to another Credit union.

the carrying amount of the loans to members represents the Credit union’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk. 



2024 2024 2023 2023
€ % € %

Gross loans not impaired
not past due 427,850  4.07  344,845  3.10 
Gross loans impaired
not past due 8,828,669  83.97  9,294,115  83.57 
up to 9 weeks past due 833,972  7.93  1,079,525  9.71  
Between 10 and 18 weeks past due 127,590  1.21  92,738  0.83  
Between 19 and 26 weeks past due 58,320  0.55  41,575  0.37  
Between 27 and 39 weeks past due 115,765  1.10  143,707  1.29  
Between 40 and 52 weeks past due 40,243  0.39  27,448  0.26  
53 or more weeks past due 82,276  0.78  96,824  0.87
total 10,086,835  95.93  10,775,932  96.90  
total gross loans 10,514,685  100.00  11,120,777  100.00

2024 2023
€ €

impairment allowance
individually significant loans (322,641) (389,194)
Collectively assessed loans (625,875) (555,670)
total carrying value 9,566,169  10,175,913

Factors that are considered in determining whether loans are impaired are discussed in note
3, dealing with estimates.

12.3 loan provision acccount for impairment losses

2024 2023
€ €

as at 1 october 944,864  914,378  
Decrease in bad debt provision as a result of loan write offs (127,688) (54,524)
allowances increased during the financial year 131,340  85,010  
increase in loan provision during the financial year 3,652  30,486 
as at 30 September 948,516  944,864 
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12.4  net recoveries or losses recognised for the financial year
2024 2023

€ €

Bad debts recovered (30,205) (35,506)
net increase in bad and doubtful debt provision 3,652  30,486  
loans written off 127,688  54,524 
net losses on loans to members recognised for the year 101,135  49,504 

12.5  analysis of Gross loans Outstanding

2024 2024 2023 2023
of loans € of loans €

less than one year 177  249,858  174  258,616  
greater than 1 year and less than 3 years 365  1,990,848  379  1,831,149  
greater than 3 years and less than 5 years 339  3,665,478  342  3,796,229  
greater than 5 years and less than 10 years 212  3,934,220  230  4,438,870  
greater than 10 years and less than 25 years 21  651,519  26  729,620  
greater than 25 years 2  22,762  4  66,293 

1,116  10,514,685  1,155  11,120,777

13. Central BanK MiniMuM reserVe
at 30 September 2024, the minimum reserve with the Central Bank of ireland that Boyle Credit
union limited was required to hold was €54,412 (2023: €55,934). the Credit union held
€31,225 in excess of the minimum requirement (2023: €29,703).

Funds held above the minimum reserve requirement are held by the Credit union as “relevant
liquid assets” with the Central Bank of ireland and are reflected as cash and cash equivalents
within note 10.

14. PrePayMents anD aCCrueD inCOMe
2024 2023

€ €

prepayments 74,702  8,584  
accrued income - loan interest 21,613  23,415  
accrued income - investment income 35,377  23,424  
accrued income - other 7,982  7,982
total prepayments and accrued income 139,674  63,405
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15.  DePOsits anD inVestMents
investments in the current and prior Balance Sheet date were all measured at amortised cost
as appropriate and comprised of the following:

15.1  Cash equivalents (original maturity within 3 months)

2024 2023
€ €

accounts in authorised Credit institutions 3,380,998  2,740,649  
Central Bank deposits 31,225  29,703  

3,412,223  2,770,352 

15.2  Other (original maturity after 3 months)
2024 2023

€ €

accounts in authorised Credit institutions 2,176,347  2,176,347  
Bank Bonds 1,600,000  800,000

3,776,347  2,976,347

15.3  total Deposits and investments 7,188,570  5,746,699 

15.4  the category of counterparties with whom the deposits and investments were held was
as follows:

2024 2023
€ €

Deposits and investments
aa3 1,321,189  -   
a1 5,567,381  4,065,261  
a2 -   581,438  
a3 -   800,000 
Baa1 -   300,000  
Baa3 300,000  - 
Total deposits and investments 7,188,570  5,746,699 
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16. MeMBers’ sHares - FinanCial liaBilities

2024 2023
€ €

as at 1 october 16,339,529  16,383,513  
received during the financial year 7,232,226  8,873,010  
repaid during the financial year (7,329,973) (8,916,994)  
as at 30 september 16,241,782  16,339,529 

Members' shares are repayable on demand except for shares attached to loans. the break-
down of the shares between attached and unattached is as follows:

2024 2023
€ €

unattached shares 15,175,909  15,301,639  
attached shares 1,065,873  1,037,890
Total members’ shares 16,241,782  16,399,529 

17.  CreDitOrs, aCCruals anD OtHer liaBilities

2024 2023
€ €

paYe/prSi 7,362  9,044  
accruals and other liabilities 126,524  87,592  
total creditors, accruals and other liabilities 133,886  96,636 



85

BoYle CreDit union ltD  | annual rePOrt 2024

noteS to tHe FinanCial stateMents ContD.

18.  FinanCial instruMents

18.1 FinanCial risK ManaGeMent
Boyle Credit union limited manages its
members’ shares and loans so that it earns
income from the margin between interest
receivable and interest payable. the main
financial risks arising from Boyle Credit union
limited's activities are credit risk, market risk,
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. the Board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks, which are
summarised below.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a borrower will default
on their contractual obligations relating to
repayments to Boyle Credit union limited,
resulting in financial loss to the Credit union. in
order to manage this risk the Board of Directors
approves Boyle Credit union limited's lending
policy, and all changes to it. all loan
applications are assessed with reference to the
lending policy in force at the time. Subsequently
loans are regularly reviewed for any factors that
may indicate that the likelihood of repayment
has changed. the credit risk on members’ loans
is disclosed in note 12.2.

the Credit union’s investments are also
exposed to credit risk and the Credit union
mitigates the risk by only placing investments
with financial institutions where the
counterparties have strong credit ratings and
using investment products authorised by the
Central Bank. the credit ratings of the financial
institutions where investments are held are
disclosed in note 15.4.

(ii) liquidity risk
the Credit union’s policy is to maintain
sufficient funds in liquid form at all times to
ensure that it can meet its liabilities as they fall
due. the Credit union adheres on an ongoing
basis to the minimum liquidity ratio and
minimum short term liquidity ratio as set out in
the Credit union act 1997 (regulatory
requirements) regulations 2016 (and its
amendments).

(iii) Market risk
Market risk is generally comprised of interest
rate risk, currency risk and other price risk.
Boyle Credit union limited conducts all its
transactions in euro and does not deal in
derivatives or commodity markets. therefore,
Boyle Credit union limited is not exposed to
any form of currency risk or other price risk.

(iv) interest rate risk
the Credit union's main interest rate risk arises
from differences between the interest rate
exposures on the receivables and payables that
form an integral part of a Credit union's
operations. the Credit union considers rates of
interest receivable on investments and
members' loans when deciding on the dividend
rate payable on shares and on any loan interest
rebate. the Board continuously monitors
interest rate risk through detailed analysis of
monthly management accounts and financial
forecasts.
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18.2 interest rate risk disclosure
the following table shows the average interest rates applicable to relevant financial assets and 
financial liabilities:

average average
interest interest

2024 rate 2023 rate
€ % € %

Financial assets
gross loans to members 10,514,685  8.10  11,120,777  7.82
Financial liabilities
Members' shares 16,241,782  -  16,339,529  - 

18.4  Fair Value OF FinanCial instruMents
the Credit union does not currently hold
financial instruments at fair value.

18.5  CaPital
the Credit union maintains sufficient reserves to
buffer the Credit union against any losses on its
members’ loans and also its investments. Full
details of these reserves are set out in the
Statement of Changes in reserves on page 14.

19.  PensiOn sCHeMe
the Credit union operates an externally funded
defined contribution pension scheme for its
employees. the assets of the scheme are vested
in independent trustees for the sole benefit of
these employees. Contributions to the pension
scheme in the year amounted to €13,850 (2023:
€14,752). an amount of €1,154 (2023: €1,482) was
included in accruals in respect of contributions
due to the scheme at the balance sheet date. 

20.  relateD Party transaCtiOns
a related party of Boyle Credit union is defined
under the Credit union (regulatory requirements)
regulations 2016, as follows:

(a) a member of the Board of Directors or the 
Management team of the Credit union;

(b) a member of the family of the Board of 
Directors or the Management team of the 
Credit union (being that person's father, 
mother, spouse or civil partner cohabitant, 
son, daughter, brother or sister);

(c) a business in which a member of the Board of
Directors or a member of the Management 
team of the Credit union has a significant 
shareholding (10% or more of the voting 
shares).

During the financial year ended 30 September
2024 related parties of the Credit union operated
share and loan accounts with the Credit union.
these loans were approved in accordance with all
relevant legislation and regulatory requirements
for credit unions at the time of the advance. the
following transactions and balances existed with
members who were related parties of the Credit
union during the financial year ended 30
September:
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no. of loans 2024 no. of loans 2023
€ € € €

During the financial year ended 30 September:

loans advanced to related parties during the
financial year were: 7 23,000  8 22,800
related party as at 30 September:
total loans outstanding from related parties 
at the financial year end: 13 114,445  10 134,033
provisions held against related parties loans due were: 9 3,904  10 6,628 
total shares held against loans of related parties were: 13 14,744  10 7,792 

loans outstanding to related parties at 30 September 2024 amounted to 1.09% (2023: 1.21%) of
total gross loans due at the year end.

21. insuranCe aGainst FrauD
the Credit union has insurance against fraud in the amount of €1,300,000 (2023: €1,300,000) in
compliance with Section 47 of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended).

22. CaPital COMMitMents
the Credit union had no material capital commitments at the financial year-ended 30 September
2024.

23. POst-BalanCe sHeet eVents
no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly af-
fected or may significantly affect the operations of the Credit union, the results of those operations
or the state of affairs of the Credit union in financial years subsequent to the financial year ended
30 September 2024.

24. COntinGent liaBilities
the Credit union had no contingent liabilities at the current or prior Balance Sheet date.

25. PrOVisiOn aVailaBle FOr sMall entities
in common with many other businesses of our size and nature, we use our auditors to assist with
the preparation of the financial statements.

26. COMParatiVe inFOrMatiOn
Comparative information has been reclassified where necessary to conform with the current year
presentation.

27. aPPrOVal OF FinanCial stateMents
the financial statements were approved, and authorised for issue, by the Board of Directors on 5
november 2024.
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2024 2023

€ €

Other Management expenses
training and seminars 4,645  2,505  
rent and rates 2,558  3,473  
general insurance 15,197  15,606  
Share and loan insurance 95,099  93,447  
Security and cash transit 1,931  1,489  
light and heat 19,664  20,221  
Cleaning and hygiene 3,557  1,665  
repairs and renewals 3,261  4,548  
Computer and equipment maintenance 63,249  77,820  
printing and stationery 22,353  28,233  
promotion and advertising 6,470  26,814  
telephone, broadband and postage 3,706  8,917  
agM expenses 12,436  13,768  
Chapter expenses -  370  
office expenses 359  1,620  
legal and debt recovery fees 33,103  24,143  
professional and internal audit fees 25,547  9,483  
audit Fees 12,300  12,595  
risk and compliance 7,628  21,135  
Central Bank levies 40,003  35,407  
transfer of engagement costs 34,991  -  
Bank interest and charges 8,052  8,192  
Cash short 1  30  
Subscriptions and donations 3,524  3,308  
affiliation fees 7,605  11,994  
CuSop and paYaC costs 32,243  18,276  
general expenses 2,969  5,507 

462,451  450,566

sCHeDule tO tHe inCOMe anD exPenDiture aCCOunt
(not forming part of the statutory audited financial statements)

For THe FinAnCiAl yeAr ended 30 sePTeMber 2024
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2024
inCOMe €

interest income 850,246
investment income rec'd/receivable within 1 year 24,287
Bad Debts recovered 30,205
other income 124
total income 904,862

exPenDiture €

net loan protection / life Savings insurance 95,099
Salaries and related expenses 280,249
Bad Debts Written off 127,688
Bad Debts provision 3,652
other expenses 424,514
exceptional losses 404,102
total expenditure 1,335,304

ytD surplus (Deficit) -430,442

exPlanatOry nOte
Bank Bonds with a Book Value of €1,600,000 have been revalued to their Market Value at 30th
September 2024. The Market Value of Bank Bonds has been assessed at €1,565,860. The
revaluation of Bank Bonds has resulted in a loss on investments of €34,140 and this loss is
recorded in the Income and Expenditure Account.

BoYle CreDit union unauDiteD aCCountS
inCOMe & exPenDiture aCCOunt
30th sePTeMber 2024
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2024
assets €

Cash and Current accounts 1,475,206
Minimum reserve Deposit Held 85,637

investments
irish and eea State Securities 0
accounts in authorised Credit institutions 5,557,345
Bank Bonds 1,600,000

total investments 8,718,188
loans 10,514,686
less provision For Bad Debts 948,516
Fixed assets less Depreciation 468,810
other assets 139,674
total assets 18,892,842

liaBilities €

Member Shares regular 16,241,782
Member Deposits 0
other Member Funds 0
other liabilities 133,885
total liabilities 16,375,667
net Worth 2,517,175

represented By:

reserVes €

regulatory reserve 2,211,620
operational risk reserve 142,000
undistributed Surplus Brought Forward 0
YtD Surplus (Deficit) 396,302
other reserves realised 551,875
other reserves unrealised 7,982
total reserves 2,517,175

BoYle CreDit union unauDiteD aCCountS
BalanCe sHeet
30th sePTeMber 2024
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MeSSage FroM

sliGO CreDit uniOn liMiteD anD 
BOyle CreDit uniOn liMiteD

Dear Members,
We are pleased to inform you, that the Board of Directors of Sligo Credit union
limited and Boyle Credit union limited are in a position to ask our members to
approve the transfer of engagements, of Boyle Credit union limited to Sligo Credit
union limited. the Special resolutions to approve the transfer of engagements will
be voted on at the forthcoming Virtual annual general Meetings. the transfer of
engagements is subject to the approval of the Central Bank.

this merger arises from the belief of the Board of Directors of our credit unions that
our members can be better served together and we consider it an ideal opportunity
to grow and develop our services to members locally. the Boards of both Credit
unions are confident that our decision to combine our Credit unions will strengthen
our position to be the most trusted, respected and preferred financial services
provider for our members, providing good value, modern, accessible and tailored
services. 

on completion of the proposed transfer of engagements, the common bond of Sligo
Credit union limited will be extended to include the common bond of Boyle Credit
union limited. the proposed new name of the Combined Credit union is northwest
Credit union limited. the advantages for members are that the enlarged Credit
union will:

• protect the provision of Credit union services in our community and allow for 
more investment in our community:

• allow access to a broader range of savings and loan services at competitive 
and sustainable rates:

• be a stronger, more viable Credit union with healthy financial reserves:
• satisfy member expectations and security of savings and: 
• provide greater efficiencies through sharing costs resulting in better value for 

members.

included in this Section 130 pack, for your information is a statement required under
Section 130 of the Credit union act, 1997 (as amended). We would like to take this
opportunity to thank you the members for your continued loyalty to your Credit
union and look forward to your support at the Virtual annual general Meetings.

shona Heffernan, Chair terry rooney, Chair
Sligo Credit Union Limited Boyle Credit Union Limited
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propoSeD transFer OF enGaGeMents

sligo Credit union limited 
the Board of Sligo Credit union limited is pleased to present the following
Special resolution to the members for consideration at the annual general
Meeting:

PrOPOseD sPeCial resOlutiOn 
the members of Sligo Credit union limited resolve that the Credit union accepts
the transfer of engagements of Boyle Credit union limited in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). 

Hugh Sheridan, Secretary, Sligo Credit Union Limited

sligo Credit union limited statement required under section 130 of the
Credit union act 1997 (as amended) in respect of Boyle Credit union limited

in accordance with Section 130 of the Credit union act, 1997 (as amended), the
following matters are required to be stated:

1. the financial position of Sligo Credit union limited and of Boyle Credit 
union limited is set out in the form of the audited annual accounts for Sligo 
Credit union limited as at 30th September 2024 and the most recent unaudited 
income & expenditure account and Balance sheet as at 30th September 2024, 
and the audited annual accounts for Boyle Credit union limited as at 30th 
September 2024 and the most recent unaudited income & expenditure account 
and Balance sheet as at 30th September 2024.

2. no payment is proposed to be made to the members of Boyle Credit union 
limited or Sligo Credit union limited in consideration of the proposed transfer.

3. there will be no change to the terms governing outstanding loans currently held 
by members in Boyle Credit union limited or Sligo Credit union limited. 
Members with current loans in Sligo Credit union and Boyle Credit union will 
continue to repay loans under the existing terms of their credit agreements. 
new loans issued after the transfer of engagements will be at the then 
prevailing loan rate in Sligo Credit union limited.

4. Staff at Boyle Credit union limited and Sligo Credit union limited have been 
fully appraised of all aspects of the transfer of engagements and are very much 
involved in the transfer of engagements process. the staff of Boyle Credit 
union limited will transfer to Sligo Credit union limited under the transfer of 
undertakings (protection of employment) regulations 2006.
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Boyle Credit union limited 
the Board of Boyle Credit union limited is pleased to present the following
Special resolution to the members for consideration at the annual general
Meeting:

PrOPOseD sPeCial resOlutiOn 
the members of Boyle Credit union limited resolve that the Credit union
transfers its engagements to Sligo Credit union limited in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Credit union act 1997 (as amended). 

Michael McCauley, Secretary, Boyle Credit Union Limited 

Boyle Credit union limited statement required under section 130 of the
Credit union act 1997 (as amended)

in accordance with Section 130 of the Credit union act, 1997 (as amended), the
following matters are required to be stated:

1. the financial position of Sligo Credit union limited and of Boyle Credit union 
limited is set out in the form of the audited annual accounts for Sligo Credit 
union limited as at 30th September 2024 and the most recent unaudited 
income & expenditure account and Balance sheet as at 30th September 2024, 
and the audited annual accounts for Boyle Credit union limited as at 30th 
September 2024 and the most recent unaudited income & expenditure account 
and Balance sheet as at 30th September 2024.

2. no payment is proposed to be made to the members of Boyle Credit union 
limited or Sligo Credit union limited in consideration of the proposed transfer.

3. there will be no change to the terms governing outstanding loans currently 
held by members in Boyle Credit union limited or Sligo Credit union limited. 
Members with current loans in Sligo Credit union and Boyle Credit union will 
continue to repay loans under the existing terms of their credit agreements. 
new loans issued after the transfer of engagements will be at the then 
prevailing loan rate in Sligo Credit union limited.

4. Staff at Boyle Credit union limited and Sligo Credit union limited have been 
fully appraised of all aspects of the transfer of engagements and are very much 
involved in the transfer of engagements process. the staff of Boyle Credit 
union limited will transfer to Sligo Credit union limited under the transfer of 
undertakings (protection of employment) regulations 2006.
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MeMBer inFOrMatiOn 

the advantages for members are that the
enlarged credit union will protect the
provision of credit union services in our
community and allow for more investment in
our community. the decision to seek a transfer
of engagements was made in order to offer
additional services to the members whilst
ensuring compliance with all relevant
legislation and regulations. there is also
increased financial strength in combining both
our credit unions. 

WHat DOes a transFer OF enGaGeMents
Mean? 
a transfer of engagement means that Boyle
Credit union limited will transfer their assets
and liabilities to Sligo Credit union limited.
Members in Sligo and Boyle can continue in
exactly the same way as before with the
added advantage of access to all of the
services that the Combined Credit union can
offer

WHat Will HaPPen next? 
We envisage that if the transfer of
engagements is approved by the Members in
both credit unions and the Central Bank, the
affairs of Boyle Credit union limited will be
transferred to Sligo Credit union limited
before the end of January 2025. all credit
union offices will need to close for a short
period in order to facilitate the transfer, and
members will be kept informed of
developments closer to the time. until then, it
is business as usual at both credit unions. 

HOW Will tHis CHanGe aFFeCt Me? 
For existing members there will be no
noticeable change. the offices in Wine Street,

Collooney, Drumkeerin, Boyle and Keadue will
remain open for members. all members will
have the added advantage of being able to
transact their business, if it is convenient for
them to do so, in all offices when the transfer
takes operational effect. 

if you are a member of Boyle Credit union
limited, you will still continue to be able to
conduct your business in the Boyle office. in
addition, once the transfer takes effect, you
will be able to transact your business all of the
other offices also. 

if you are a member of Boyle Credit union
limited, you will now be able to avail of the
Current account and Debit Card service in
Sligo Credit union limited. 

Members with current loans in Sligo Credit
union limited and Boyle Credit union limited
will continue to repay loans under the existing
terms of their credit agreements. new loans
issued after the transfer of engagements will
be at the then prevailing loan rate in Sligo
Credit union limited. 

if you are a member of Boyle Credit union
limited, all of your account balances and
information will remain exactly the same. 

DO i HaVe tO DO anytHinG? 
We do welcome any views that any member
may have on the proposed transfer of
engagements. Members may write to either
credit union or email to info@sligocu.ie or
info@boylecu.com with any views, comments
or queries they may have.
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stanDinG OrDers 
For Virtual annual general Meeting

Voting
1. each member shall be entitled to one vote 

irrespective of his/her shareholding, in 
accordance with section 82(2) of the Credit 
union act, 1997 (as amended).

2. as the agM will be a virtual meeting, voting 
on motions and elections will be by 
electronic means. each member registered 
for and attending the virtual agM, will be 
given the opportunity to exercise their vote 
electronically during the meeting.

election Procedure - electronic Voting
3. Following the announcement of nominations,

attendees will be given the opportunity to 
vote electronically ‘Yes’ or ‘no’ for each 
candidate. those in attendance will be given
30 Seconds to record their vote. the 
mechanics of the electronic virtual voting 
process will be explained in more detail at 
the agM by the Chair. elections shall be 
in the following order:
a. nominations for auditor
b. nominations for members of the board 

oversight committee
c. nominations for directors.

4. the votes will be tallied electronically and 
verified by our Head of regulation. When all
elections have been completed and results 
become available the chair will announce 
the results.

Motions 
5. the essential business of the credit union 

includes statutory reporting to members on 
the financial status of the credit union, elect
officers and the passing of the special 
resolution for the proposed transfer of 
engagements. there will be no motions from

the floor due to the difficulties in managing 
same remotely. 

6. Members will be invited to submit questions
to the board via ‘Chat’ button on the toolbar
in the Zoom Webinar and the board will 
address these during the agM.

7. all motions must be proposed and seconded
by members present at the agM and moved
by the proposer. 

8. a proposer of a motion may speak for such 
period as shall be at the discretion of the 
chair of the meeting and shall have the right
of reply before the motion is put to the 
meeting for a vote. 

9. in exercising his/her right of reply, a proposer
may not introduce new material.

10. the seconder of a motion shall have such 
time as shall be allowed by the chair to 
second the motion. 

11. the chair shall have the absolute right to 
decide at any time when a motion has been 
sufficiently discussed and may put the 
motion to the meeting giving the proposer 
the right of reply before doing so. 

Miscellaneous 
12. the chair of the board of directors shall be 

the chair of any general meeting, except 
where he/she is not available, in which case
it shall be the vice-chair, except where 
he/she is not available, in which case the 
board shall decide amongst themselves who
shall act as chair of any general meeting. 

13. the chair may at his/her discretion, extend 
the privilege of the floor to any person who is
not a member. 

14. only matters covered by the agenda at agM
may be considered. 
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15. the chairman’s decision on any matter 
relating to these Standing orders or 
interpretation of same shall be final. 

16. no member shall have more than one vote 
on each question at any general meeting of 
the credit union or any adjournment thereof
irrespective of his/her shareholding or the 
number of accounts in his/her name in the 
credit union provided, however, that except 
in voting at elections, the presiding member
shall have a second or casting vote in the 
event of equality of voting. Voting by proxy 
shall be allowed only when a member other
than a natural person votes through a 
representative, who is a member of the 
group, duly authorised in writing for that 
purpose and accepted as such by the 
board of directors. 

17. any Special resolution to be decided upon 
by vote at the agM shall, unless otherwise 
expressly provided for by law or the rules, be
decided upon by 75% majority of those 
present and voting. 

suspension / alteration of standing Orders 
18. any one of these Standing orders or all of 

these Standing orders may be suspended on
a motion to this effect receiving a two-thirds
majority of those present and entitled to 
vote. 

19. Standing orders may be amended or altered
at a general meeting and only if a motion to
this effect has received a two-thirds majority
of those present and voting. 

adjournments 
20. adjournments of the agM shall take place 

only in accordance with section 81(1) of the 
Credit union act, 1997 (as amended)

Virtual Meeting items
21. all non-presenting participants will be muted

and have their cameras switched off to allow
the smooth running of the meeting.

22. a member shall only address the meeting 
when called upon by the Chair to do so, 
when invited to contribute.

23. all members are asked to utilise the ‘chat’ 
button on the bottom of the toolbar in Zoom
Webinar to ask questions.

24. all members are reminded to conduct 
themselves in a professional manner. please
refrain from sharing any explicit, violent or 
inappropriate content.

25. provision shall be made for the protection of
the Chair from vilification (personal abuse)

26. all members are asked to turn their mobile 
phone on silent as even the vibrate setting 
can cause disruptions.

27. the agM meeting will be recorded.






